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Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Dubai Investments PJSC (“the Company”) is pleased to 
present their report along with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Principal Activities

The Group is primarily involved in development of real estate for sale and leasing, contracting 
activities, manufacturing and trading of products in various sectors, district cooling, investment 
banking, asset management, financial investments, healthcare and education.

Financial Performance

The Group has reported profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company of AED 651.4 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to AED 1,001.6 million in the previous year.

The Group has reported comparatively lower profits as compared to the previous year on account 
of lower fair valuation of investment properties and loss on fair valuation of financial investments 
caused by current market conditions.

Total assets of the Group have increased by AED 2.55 billion and stands at AED 19.55 billion as 
of 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 17.0 billion). The increase in total assets is mainly attributable to 
acquisition of additional 50% interest in Emirates District Cooling LLC during the year.

Proposed Dividend 

In line with its commitment to provide enhanced returns to shareholders, the Board propose to 
distribute cash dividend of 10% to the shareholders of the Company.
 
Proposed Appropriations

The Directors propose the following appropriation from the Company’s retained earnings:	

		  AED’000

>	 Transfer to legal reserve 	 37,512

>	 Transfer to general reserve 	 35,297

>	 Proposed cash dividend	 425,202

>	 Proposed Directors’ fee	 10,500

Outlook 2019

The Group’s outlook for the year 2019 is positive. The recent announcements and initiatives taken 
by the UAE Government together with ongoing development works for EXPO 2020 is expected to 
bolster economic growth. The Group is looking forward to complete and execute phased handover 
of the Mirdiff Hills development commencing Q4-2019. Further, the Group is progressing with 
its diversification strategy in financial, education and healthcare sectors with several proposals 
under active consideration. 
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Subsequent to 31st December 2018, a subsidiary of the Company namely Dubai Investments Park 
Development Company LLC repaid its five year US$ 300 million Sukuk notes matured on 20th 
February 2019. The Sukuk notes were refinanced through a competitive bilateral loan facility 
obtained from a financial institution.

Directors

The Board of Directors comprises:
>	 Mr. Sohail Faris Ghanim Ateish Al Mazrui - Chairman
>	 Mr. Hussain Mahyoob Sultan Al Junaidy - Vice Chairman
>	 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan
>	 Mr. Mohamed Saif Darwish Ahmed Al Ketbi
>	 Mr. Khalid Jassim Mohamed Bin Kalban
>	 H.E. Abdulrahman Ghanem Abdulrahman Almutaiwee
>	 Mr. Khaled Mohamed Ali Al Kamda

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) were appointed as the auditors of Dubai Investments PJSC for the 
year ended 31 December 2018. The Board propose to appoint PwC for the audit for the year ending 
31st December 2019.

Acknowledgement

The Board would like to express their gratitude and appreciation to all its shareholders, client 
and business partners whose continued support has been a source of great strength and 
encouragement. 

The Board would also like to place on record their commendation for the hard work and efforts put 
in by Group management and staff as well as their loyalty and perseverance for the benefit of the 
Company and its shareholders.

On behalf of the Board
Sohail Faris Ghanim Ateish Al Mazrui 
Chairman
Dated: 12th March 2019

Directors’ Report (continued)
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for the year ended 31 December

2018 2017

Note AED’000 AED’000

Sale of goods and services 1,428,951 887,078 

Rental income 926,654 910,670 

Contract revenue 305,186 324,526 

Sale of properties 89,596 -

Gain on fair valuation of investment properties 12 101,897 645,551 

Loss on fair valuation of investments 14 (153,306) (30,458) 

Gain on sale of investment properties 17 899 

Gain on sale of investments 40 18,266 12,454

Share of (loss)/profit from equity accounted investees 15(iii) (29,152) 18,397 

Dividend income 25,069 15,168 

Gain on fair valuation of existing interest prior
to acquisition of controlling stake 39b 228,916

-

Bargain purchase gain 39b 104,263 -

Total income 3,046,357 2,784,285 

Cost of sales 6 (1,911,907) (1,417,381) 

Administrative and general expenses 7 (454,395) (373,288) 

Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee’ 15(ii) (27,990) (82,868)

Finance expenses 8 (142,055)  (98,861) 

Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets 42 (31,843) (23,661)

Finance income 8 47,468 79,646 

Other income 9 44,564 63,398 

Profit for the year 570,199 931,270 

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 

Owners of the Company 651,431 1,001,597 

Non-controlling interests (81,232) (70,327) 

Profit for the year 570,199 931,270 

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 33 0.15 0.24
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
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The notes set out on pages 15 to 73 are an integral part of these financial statements.



for the year ended 31 December

2018 2017

Note AED’000 AED’000

Profit for the year 570,199 931,270

Other comprehensive income (‘OCI’):
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Net change in fair value of investments at 
fair value through OCI 
(refer note 14 (c) (48,205) (21,060)

Total other comprehensive income for the year (48,205) (21,060)

Total comprehensive income for the year 521,994 910,210

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 606,766 982,963 

Non-controlling interests (84,772) (72,753) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 521,994 910,210 
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The notes set out on pages 15 to 73 are an integral part of these financial statements.



as at 31 December

2018 2017

Note AED’000 AED’000
ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 3,427,431 1,241,855
Goodwill and intangible assets 11 325,040 98,840
Investment properties 12 8,292,108 7,704,980
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income                       14(i) 133,586 209,827
Investment in equity accounted investees’ 15 246,754 606,677
Rent receivable 16 43,958 40,520
Finance lease receivable 17 1,577 2,950
Inventories 18 353,059 1,884,145
Trade receivables 19 67,870 229,439
Due from related parties and other receivables 20 46,107 64,385

12,937,490 12,083,618

Current assets
Inventories 18 2,452,791 872,257
Investment at fair value through profit or loss 14(ii) 1,429,227 1,550,224
Trade receivables 19 1,137,483 849,262
Due from related parties and other receivables 20 664,714 682,571
Short-term deposits with banks 21 134,423 26,676
Cash and cash equivalents 21 798,069 940,345

6,616,707 4,921,335
Total assets 19,554,197 17,004,953

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY

Share capital 26 4,252,018 4,252,018
Share premium 26 46 46
Capital reserve 27 25,502 25,502
Legal reserve 28 1,078,710 1,041,198
General reserve 28 1,345,510 1,310,213
Revaluation reserve 29 22,000 22,000
Fair value reserve 30 (153,281) (259,489)
Proposed dividend 31 425,202 510,242
Proposed directors’ fee 32 10,500 12,250
Retained earnings 4,909,632 4,936,167

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 11,915,839 11,850,147

Non-controlling interests 38 369,466 478,503
Total equity 12,285,305 12,328,650

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of financial position 
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The notes set out on pages 15 to 73 are an integral part of these financial statements.



as at 31 December

2018 2017

Note AED’000 AED’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Long-term bank borrowings 22 2,762,690 883,989

Sukuk notes 23 - 1,101,600

Other payables 25 161,095 68,847

2,923,785 2,054,436

Current liabilities

Bank borrowings 24 1,469,216 1,193,445

Sukuk notes 23 1,101,600 -

Trade and other payables 25 1,774,291 1,428,422

4,345,107 2,621,867

Total liabilities 7,268,892 4,676,303

Total equity and liabilities 19,554,197 17,004,953

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
12th March 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Sohail Faris Ghanim Al Mazrui	 Hussain Mahyoob Sultan	 Khalid Jassim Bin Kalban
Chairman			   Vice Chairman		  Managing Director and Chief 
							       Executive Officer

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)
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for the year ended 31 December

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 570,199 931,270

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 166,621 107,096

Amortization of intangible assets 7,291 1,112

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 86 2,587

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (44) (8,824)

Gain on sale of investments (18,266) (12,454)

Gain on fair valuation of investment properties (101,897) (645,551)

Gain on sale of investment properties (17) (899)

Share of loss/(profit) from equity accounted investees' 29,152 (18,397)

Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee 27,990 82,868

Loss on fair valuation of investments 153,306 30,458

Provision for write down of inventories to net realizable value 73,290 60,230

Gain on fair valuation of existing interest prior to acquisition of con-
trolling stake

(228,916) -

Bargain purchase gain (104,263) -

Interest income (45,991) (56,655)

Interest expense/profit on sukuk notes 135,745 84,965

Operating profit before changes in working capital 664,286 557,806

Changes in:

Investments at fair value through profit or loss and OCI 17,534 46,115

Trade, due from related parties and other receivables (57,385) (195,975)

Inventories (498,536) (596,793)

Trade and other payables 229,373 136,804

Directors’ fee paid (12,250) (10,000)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 343,022 (62,043)

Cash flows from investing activities

Consideration paid for acquisition of controlling/ non-controlling inter-
ests- net of cash acquired (refer note 39b)

(405,426) (29,272)

Proceeds from sale of investment properties 4,332 27,301

Additions to investment properties (291,320) (123,134)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (323,439) (41,587)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 605 19,181

Net movement in equity accounted investees’ (72,565) (6,897)

Net additions to intangible assets (219) (184)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,088,032) (154,592)

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of cash flows

13

The notes set out on pages 15 to 73 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 December

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings and payables 2,002,393 914,797

Repayment of bank borrowings and payables (645,356) (722,752)

Net movement in non-controlling interests (22,895) 2,354

Dividend paid (510,242) (485,945)

Net movement in deposits under lien (50,718) (5,439)

Interest income received 45,991 56,655

Interest expense/profit on sukuk notes paid (135,745) (84,965)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 683,428 (325,295)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (61,582) (541,930)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 404,598 946,528

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 343,016 404,598

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash in hand, current and call account with banks – refer note 21 582,893 516,799

Short term deposits with banks (excluding those under lien) – 
refer note 21

215,174 435,888

Bank overdraft, trust receipt loans and bills discounted – refer note 24 (455,051) (548,089)
343,016 404,598

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
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The notes set out on pages 15 to 73 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1.	 Reporting entity

Dubai  Investments  PJSC  (“the  Company”)  was  incorporated  in the  United  Arab  Emirates  by  
Ministerial Resolution No. 46 of 1995, on 16 July 1995.  The consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and joint arrangements.

The Group is primarily involved in development of real estate for sale and leasing, contracting 
activities, manufacturing and trading of products in various sectors, district cooling, investment 
banking, asset management, financial investments, healthcare and education.

At 31 December 2018 the Company had approximately 16,751 shareholders (2017: 16,913 shareholders). 

The registered address of the Company is P.O. Box 28171, Dubai, UAE.

2.	 Basis of preparation
	

2.1	  Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the requirements of UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015.

2.2	 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
following which are measured at fair value:

>	 land included under property, plant and equipment;
>	 investment properties;
>	 investments at fair value through other comprehensive income;
>	 investments at fair value through profit or loss; and
>	 derivative financial instruments
 

2.3	 Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirate Dirham (“AED”), which 
is the Company’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise indicated.

2.4	 Use of judgments and estimates

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognized prospectively.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2018
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2.	 Basis of preparation (continued)
	

2.4	 Use of judgments and estimates  (continued)

Information about judgments in applying accounting policies, assumptions and estimation 
uncertainties that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements is included in note 41.

2.5	 Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair values, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This 
includes a management team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value 
measurements, including Level 3 fair values. The management team regularly reviews significant 
unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.

If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, 
then the management team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the 
conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of IFRS, including the level in the fair value 
hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Audit Committee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs 
used in valuation techniques as follows:

>	 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
>	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
>	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
	 (unobservable inputs)

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorized in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in 
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 
period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the significant assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in 
the following notes:

>	 Note 12 – Investment properties; 
>	 Note 14 – Financial investments; 
>	 Note 15 – Investment in equity accounted investees; 
>	 Note 18 – Inventories; and
>	 Note 39 – Investment in subsidiaries

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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3.	 Changes in significant accounting policies

From 1 January 2018, the Group has adopted following new International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS’s):

IFRS 9 (2014) - Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and measure-
ment of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment 
of financial assets and hedge accounting. 

The Group had early adopted IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 relating to the classification and measure-
ment of financial assets.  Subsequently, requirements were added in IFRS 9 relating to classification 
and measurement of liabilities in 2010, hedge accounting in 2013 and impairment relating to expected 
credit losses on financial assets in 2014. In 2014 the completed version of IFRS 9 was issued. Some 
limited amendments have been made in the final standard relating to classification and measurement 
requirements for financial assets by introducing a fair value through other comprehensive income 
category for certain debt instruments. 

The effective date of the new standard issued in 2014 was 1 January 2018. It replaces existing Interna-
tional Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue 
is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.

Amendment to IAS 40, Investment Property

The amendment clarified that to transfer to, or from, investment properties there must be a change in 
use. To conclude if a property has changed use there should be an assessment of whether the property 
meets the definition. This change must be supported by evidence. A change in intention, in isolation, 
is not enough to support a transfer.

The Group adopted the amendments to IAS 40 using the prospective application method permitted 
by the standard. The Group has assessed the impact of the amendment to IAS 40 on the classifica-
tion of existing property as at 1 January 2018 and has concluded that no reclassifications are required 
on adoption of the amendment.

The initial application of new standards has mainly impacted the significant accounting policies 
relating to the following:

>	 impairment losses recognised on financial assets
>	 timing of revenue recognition from sale of properties

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and IFRS 15, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

The adoption of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in account-
ing policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The 
new accounting policies are set out in note 45. In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 9, 
comparative figures have not been restated. 
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3.	 Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following significant types of financial assets that are subject to IFRS 9’s new 
expected credit loss (ECL) model

>	 Trade receivables;
>	 Due from customers for contract work;
>	 Due from related parties; 
>	 Rent receivables; 
>	 Retention receivables;
>	 Short-term deposits with banks; and
>	 Cash and cash equivalents

For trade receivables, due from customers for contract work and rent receivables, the Group applies 
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised 
from initial recognition of these receivables. 

To measure the expected credit losses, the operating subsidiaries group their receivables for each 
significant line of business, based on their shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss expe-
rience, which is adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions, 
forward looking macroeconomic data including time value of money and expected cash flows from 
the realization of collateral, if any. 

The due from customers for contract work relates to unbilled work in progress and have substantial-
ly the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group 
has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approxi-
mation of the loss rates for the due from customers for contract work. 

Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Group has exhausted all practical recovery 
efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Subsequent recover-
ies of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

While short-term deposits with banks and cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impair-
ment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Other financial assets include related party balances and other receivables. The Group monitors all 
financial assets to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group measures the loss allow-
ance based on lifetime expected credit loss model.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial statements has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information.	

Transition

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate comparative information 
for prior periods with respect to measurement (including impairment) changes. Differences in the 
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 has 
been recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.
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3.	 Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (continued)

Transition (continued)

The total impact on the Group’s retained earnings as at 1 January 2018 is as follows:

2018
AED’000

Opening retained earnings as originally presented 4,936,167
Change in accounting policy brought by IFRS 9:
- Increase in impairment provision based on ECL model (21,475)
Restated retained earnings as at 1 January 4,914,692

As the Group early adopted IFRS 9 (2009) relating to classification of assets, no reclassifications have 
been made on adoption of IFRS 9 (2014). 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, from 1 January 2018, which 
resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the consol-
idated financial statements. 

Revenue recognition 

(a) Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of properties was recognised when the properties are handed over to the custom-
ers, which is taken to be the point in time of the physical hand-over, the related risks and rewards of 
ownership is transferred provided that revenue and costs can be measured reliably, the recovery of the 
consideration is probable and there is no continuing management involvement with the properties.

Under IFRS 15, revenue from the sale of properties is recognised as the properties are being construct-
ed i.e. over time based on stage of completion at the reporting date.

The Group has opted for modified retrospective application permitted by IFRS 15 upon application of 
the new standard. Accordingly, the standard has been applied to the year ended 31 December 2018 
only (i.e. the initial application period).  Modified retrospective application also requires the recogni-
tion of the cumulative impact of adoption on all contracts not yet complete as at 1 January 2018 in the 
form of an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as at 1 January 2018. The details of 
adjustments to opening retained earnings and other account balances are detailed below:

Consolidated statement of 
financial position

31 December
2017

IFRS 15 Adjust-
ment

1 January
2018

AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Assets
Trade receivables (current) 849,262 2,543 851,805
Inventories 1,884,145 (23,123) 1,861,022
Liabilities
Trade and other payables 1,428,422 (23,473) 1,404,949
Equity
Retained earnings  4,936,167 2,893 4,939,060

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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3.	 Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of adopting IFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or 
loss for the year then ended for each of the line item affected. There is no significant impact on the 
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Particulars
Amounts without 

adoption of IFRS 15 IFRS 15 Adjustments As reported
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Inventories (current) 2,550,624 (97,833) 2,452,791
Trade receivables (current) 1,063,259 74,224 1,137,483
Sale of properties 7,216 82,380 89,596
Cost of sales (1,836,393) (75,514) (1,911,907)

			 
(b)	 Construction contracts

Contract revenue currently includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in 
contract work, claims and incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result 
in revenue and can be measured reliably. When a claim or variation is recognised, the measure of 
contract progress or contract price is revised and the cumulative contract position is reassessed at 
each reporting date.

Under IFRS 15, claims and variations are included in the contract accounting when they are approved.

Based on its assessment, the Group did not identify any significant impact on its consolidated 
financial statements on application of revised policy.

(c)	 Transition

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with the effect of initially 
applying this standard recognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). As a result, 
the cumulative impact of increase in net profit amounting to AED 2.9 million has been adjusted in the 
opening retained earnings and comparatives have not been adjusted.

4.	 Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, and earlier application is permitted, however, 
the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements. 

None of those standards that are not yet effective, are expected to have a significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group, except for the following:

IFRS 16 – Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognized on the 
statement of financial position by lessees, as the distinction between operating and finance leases 
is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial 
liability to pay rentals are recognized. Practical expedients are available for short-term and low-value 
leases. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor 
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17 Leases.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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4.	 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 – Leases (continued)

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group 
intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for 
the year prior to first adoption. Therefore, the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 (if any) will be 
recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Right of-
use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid 
or accrued lease expenses).

Leases in which the Group is a lessee 

For lease commitments (excluding non-lease components, short-term and low-value leases) the 
Group will recognize lease liabilities, representing the present value of the future minimum lease 
payments discounted at a rate appropriate to the operation in which the leases arise, on 1 January 
2019, and corresponding right-of-use assets in respect of these leases, adjusted for prepayments 
and accrued lease payments recognized as at 31 December 2018.

On adoption of IFRS 16 operating lease costs (other than short-term and low value leases) will 
no longer be recognized as part of operating expenses. The Group will determine a threshold for 
assessing what constitutes low value leases. 

The Group will recognize depreciation on the right-of-use assets and interest on the lease liabilities 
over the lease term in profit or loss. The treatment is expected to have a net positive impact on cash 
generated from operating activities. Correspondingly, cash used in financing activities will increase, 
as the capital portion of lease liability repayments will be included within repayment of borrowings.

Leases in which the Group is a lessor

No significant impact is expected for leases in which the Group is a lessor. However, some additional 
disclosures will be required in the next reporting period.

5.	 Financial risk management

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

>	 credit risk
>	 liquidity risk
>	 market risk

Risk management framework

The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight 
of the Group’s risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Group’s 
risk management function which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk 
management policies. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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5.	 Financial risk management (continued)

The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by 
the Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s trade 
receivables, contract work-in-progress, due from related parties, retention receivables, rent 
receivables, investments in debt securities, short-term deposits with banks and cash and cash 
equivalents.

(a)	 Trade receivables, due from customers for contract work, retention receivables, rent receivables and  
due from related parties

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, 
including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors 
may have an influence on credit risk.

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to customers by reviewing credit to individual 
customers by tracking their historical business relationship and default risk. Subsidiaries operating 
in the property segment sell its properties subject to retention of title clauses, so that in the event 
of non-payment the Group may have a secured claim. Advances are received at the time of signing 
of lease terms and all construction, renovation or any kind of work to be carried out at the leased 
premises needs prior approval from the Group. Furthermore, lease cannot be transferred to another 
tenant without prior approval of the Group.  The risk of default in instalment is thereby mitigated as 
the customer (tenant) has incurred significant capital expenditure on the leased premises which can 
be taken over by the Group in the event of default. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are 
grouped according to their credit characteristics, history with the entity and existence of previous 
financial difficulties.  

(b)	 Investments in debt securities

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with 
counterparties that have credible market reputation. The Group’s management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The Group monitors changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit ratings. To determine 
whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in published ratings, the Group 
supplements this by reviewing changes in bond yields. 

(c)	 Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits

Cash is placed with local and international banks of good credit reputation. The Group considers 
that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the 
counterparties. The cash and cash equivalents at the balance sheet date is placed with local banks 
having credit ratings A2 to Baa1.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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5.	 Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group aims to maintain the level of cash and cash equivalents and other liquid investments at 
an amount in excess of expected cash outflows on financial liabilities. This excludes the potential 
impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its financial instruments.  The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return.

The Group uses derivatives in order to manage market risks, however, the Group does not apply 
hedge accounting.

(a)	 Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily United State Dollar 
(“USD”) and Euro. The Group does not face any foreign currency risk on transactions denominated in 
USD as AED is pegged to USD.

The Group manages its exposure in foreign currency exchange rates by the use of derivative 
instruments. 

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group 
policy is to ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying and selling foreign 
currencies at spot rate when necessary to address short term imbalances.

(b)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the net finance 
expense of the Group.

Financial assets and liabilities that are subject to fair value risk are the ones with fixed interest rate. 
Financial assets and liabilities that are subject to cash flow rate risk are the ones with floating interest 
rate.

Sukuk notes amounting to USD 300 million issued by a Group’s subsidiary in 2014 (maturing in 
February 2019) carries fixed interest rate of 4.291% p.a.

The long-term loans attract varying rates of interest, which are, in general, varied with reference to 
the base lending rates of the banks at regular intervals.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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5.	 Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(c)	 Other market price risk

Price risk arises from marketable securities measured at fair value. Management of the Group 
monitors the mix of debt and equity securities in investments portfolio to maximize investment 
returns, which is the primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy. In accordance with this strategy 
certain investments are designated as fair value through profit or loss because their performance is 
actively monitored and they are managed on a fair value basis.

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the 
return on capital, which is defined as profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 
divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividend to 
ordinary shareholders. 

The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible 
with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 
The Board has defined the Company’s gearing ratio to be maintained below 1:2 level.  This ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by total equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as the total bank 
borrowings plus sukuk notes less cash and cash equivalents and investments classified as Level 1 
and Level 2. Total equity is calculated as shown in the statement of financial position.

6.	 Cost of sales
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000
These mainly include:
Materials consumed 1,075,193 747,536
Cost of properties sold 81,714 -
Staff costs 143,667 122,545
Depreciation and amortization 138,007 74,308
Factory overheads (excluding depreciation) 188,580 186,532
Provision for write down of inventories to net realizable 
value (refer note 18) 

73,290 60,230

Share of Government of Dubai in the realized profits of a 
subsidiary (refer note 12)

115,358 116,183

Infrastructure and development works cost sharing with 
RTA (refer note 34) 29,077 29,077

7.	 Administrative and general expenses
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000
These mainly include:
Staff costs 255,305 207,137
Selling and marketing expenses 50,716 71,417
Depreciation and amortization 35,905 36,487

Selling and marketing expenses include an amount of AED 1 million (2017: AED 1.4 million) incurred 
towards charity and social contributions.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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8.	 Finance income and expenses

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Interest income 45,991 56,655
Unwinding of discount on financial assets measured at 
amortized cost

1,477 19,794

Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables - 3,197

Finance income 47,468 79,646

Interest expense/profit on sukuk notes (135,745) (84,965)
Unwinding of discount on financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost

1,805 (1,244)

Bank charges (21,242) (12,128)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) - net 4,239 (524)

Finance expenses (150,943) (98,861)

9.	 Other income

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Other income mainly includes:
Provision no longer required written back 9,526 3,263
Service charges 5,413 5,775
Management fee 4,678 3,529
Advertisement income  4,510 2,518
Sale of scrap 3,167 4,356
Income from leased operations 1,397 2,333
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 44 8,824
Insurance claim received - 17,123

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

Building 
AED’000

Plant and 
equipment

AED’000

Office 
equipment
& furniture

AED’000

Motor 
vehicles

AED’00

Capital 
work-in- 

progress
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Cost/valuation

At 1 January 2017 925,715 1,272,304 96,767 24,618 73,693 2,393,097

Additions 518 9,007 6,070 1,333 24,659 41,587

Disposals and write-offs (389) (1,946) (2,216) (2,965) (8,924) (16,440)

Transfers 12,156 15,739 (2,381) - (25,514) -

At 31 December 2017 938,000 1,295,104 98,240 22,986 63,914 2,418,244

Additions (refer (i) below) 84,103 37,787 10,775 861 189,913 323,439

Transfer from inventories (refer (ii) below) - - - - 180,485 180,485

Disposals and write-offs - (1,392) (715) (869) (23) (2,999)

Acquisition through business combination (refer 
note 39)

167,371 1,595,385 10,309 168 372,555 2,145,788

Transfers 2,963 97,105 506 467 (101,041) -

At 31 December 2018 1,192,437 3,023,989 119,115 23,613 705,803 5,064,957

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2017 308,939 652,355 79,947 20,840 10,708 1,072,789

Charge for the year 33,851 64,909 7,083 1,253 - 107,096

On disposals and write-offs - (1,819) (2,216) (2,048) - (6,083)

Impairment loss - 2,587 - - - 2,587

At 31 December 2017 342,790 718,032 84,814 20,045 10,708 1,176,389

Charge for the year 40,261 115,317 9,593 1,450 - 166,621

On disposals and write-offs - (1,052) (664) (722) - (2,438)

On acquisition through business combination 
(refer note 39)

18,616 271,386 6,698 168 - 296,868

Impairment loss - 86 - - - 86

At 31 December 2018 401,667 1,103,769 100,441 20,941 10,708 1,637,526

Net book value

At 31 December 2017 595,210 577,072 13,426 2,941 53,206 1,241,855

At 31 December 2018 790,770 1,920,220 18,674 2,672 695,095 3,427,431

10. Property, plant and equipment
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10.	Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(i)	 Additions to Capital work-in-progress represents costs incurred by subsidiaries for expanding 
their manufacturing facilities and constructing district cooling plants. 
Included in capital work-in-progress at 31 December 2018 is an amount of AED 53.4 million 
(2017: AED 53.4 million) for which a subsidiary has decided to temporarily put the expansion of 
manufacturing facility on hold. Based on review of the carrying values, an impairment loss of AED 
10.7 million was recorded for this capital work-in-progress in previous years.

(ii)	 During the year, the Group commenced construction of two hotels on plots of land classified 
within inventories in the earlier years. Accordingly, an amount of AED 180.5 has been reclassified 
from inventories to property, plant and equipment during the current year. 

(iii)	Buildings, plant and machinery with a net book value of AED 1,990 million (2017: AED 831 million) 
are mortgaged as security against term loans obtained from banks. In certain instances, the 
insurance over buildings and plant and machinery is also assigned in favor of the banks against 
facilities availed	.    

11.	 Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill
Patent and 
trade mark

Customer 
contracts

Other 
intangible 

assets Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2017 124,085 7,445 - 18,491 150,021
Additions - - - 184 184
As at 31 December 2017 124,085 7,445 - 18,675 150,205
Additions (refer note 39b) - - 233,272 219 233,491
As at 31 December 2018 124,085 7,445 233,272 18,894 383,696

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses

At 1 January 2017 (29,659) (7,445) - (13,149) (50,253)
Amortization - - - (1,112) (1,112)
As at 31 December 2017 (29,659) (7,445) - (14,261) (51,365)
Amortization - (5,981) (1,310) (7,291)
As at 31 December 2018 (29,659) (7,445) (5,981) (15,571) (58,656)

Carrying amount
31 December 2017 94,426 - - 4,414 98,840
31 December 2018 94,426 - 227,291 3,323 325,040

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2018 and 
2017 reporting period, the recoverable amount of the cash generating units (CGUs) was determined 
based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. The calculations use cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. 
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated 
below. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the 
industry in which each CGU operates. The goodwill mainly relates to manufacturing and service 
operations of the Group and has been tested using the value in use model. 

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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11.	 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

The calculation of valuation in use was sensitive to the following assumptions:

Management has determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions as follows:

Assumption Approach used to determining values

Budgeted gross margin Based on past performance and management’s expectations for 
the future.

Long-term growth rate This is the weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash 
flows beyond the budget period. The management prepared a 
five-year budget based on their expectation of future results, 
thereafter a growth rate of 2% - 5% (2017: 2% - 5%) was assumed.

Discount rates Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and the 
countries in which they operate. The management estimated 
that such discount rate to be used should be between 7% - 10% 
(2017: 6% -9%).

Customer contracts

Customer contracts represents the value of rights that arise from contractual agreements. These 
represents long term contracts spanning over a period of 20 years with individual and corporate 
customers with a renewal option available.

The contracts have been valued using Multi period Excess Earnings Method (“MEEM”) under the 
income approach.

The MEEM approach involves the valuation of the net residual income stream derived from the 
customer contracts after deduction of an appropriate Contributory Asset Charges (“CAC”) to 
reflect returns attributable to all other assets, both tangible and intangible, employed in supporting 
customer contracts related intangible asset.

The underlying cash flows have been discounted using WACC of 11% - 13%. 

The customer contracts are being amortized over the life of associated infrastructure which is 
approximately 39 years.     

12.	Investment properties
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

At 1 January 7,704,980 6,731,697

Additions 284,468 331,630

Transferred from inventories (refer note 18) 199,895 -

Transferred from development properties (refer note 13) 5,183 22,504

Sale of investment properties (4,315) (26,402)

Gain on fair valuation (net) 101,897 645,551
At 31 December 8,292,108 7,704,980

-	 Additions during the year represents development work in progress on certain plots of land.

-	 During the year based on change of use, the Group reclassified land and building under 
construction from inventories to investment properties.

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

12.	Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties comprises the following: 2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Infrastructure and ancillary facilities 5,042,369 4,828,328

Plots of land for future development 944,649 971,424

Residential, retail and commercial facilities 1,649,160 1,233,995
Labor camps and warehouses 655,930 671,233

8,292,108 7,704,980
Valuation processes

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December 2018 by independent registered valuers 
in accordance with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors taking into account requirements of IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurements’. For all investment 
properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use. Management review the valuations 
performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes which among other things 
include:

>	 provision and verification of all major inputs to the independent valuation reports;
>	 assessment of property valuation movements when compared to the prior year valuation report; and
>	 discussions with the independent valuers.

(a) Infrastructure and ancillary facilities:

These are built on the land (number 598-0100 and 597-0100 located in Jebel Ali Industrial Area) obtained 
from the Government of Dubai on a renewable, non-cancellable long-term lease of 99 years. The Group 
was exempted  to pay the lease rentals for the first ten years and thereafter, starting  1 February  2009, 
20% of the net realized  profits from the project are payable  to the Government of Dubai.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has obtained fair values of all phases, and the valuations were carried 
out using the income valuation approach, after taking into consideration the cash outflows resulting from 
the estimated 20% share of the net realized profits due to the Government of Dubai. The fair valuation 
gain of AED 250 million (2017: AED 604 million) has arisen due to a significant change in the net cash 
flows as per the terms of the lease contracts with tenants.

Since the valuation of all completed phases by the independent registered valuer is based on future 
net cash flows, the adjustment has been made for rent accrued on the straight line basis as per IAS 
17.  Similarly, the unearned rent received in advance and recognized liabilities for 20% share of the 
Government of Dubai at the valuation date have been included in the valuation of investment properties. 
The reconciliation of valuation of investment properties carried out by the independent registered valuer 
and the adjusted valuation included in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Fair valuation of completed phases and ancillary facilities as per 
independent registered valuation reports

4,791,661 4,586,663

Less: adjustment for rent receivable for completed phases (note 16) (43,958) (40,520)

Add: adjustment for unearned rent for completed phases* (note 25) 179,308 166,002
Add: adjustment for recognized liabilities (included in other payable 
and accrued expenses (refer notes 6 and 25)

115,358 116,183

5,042,369 4,828,328

* Unearned rent represents receipt of lease rentals in advance from some of the tenants.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

12.	Investment properties (continued)

(a)	 Infrastructure and ancillary facilities:

Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes: future market rental cash 
inflows (in line with contracts entered with tenants), outgoing costs and risk adjusted discount rates. 

(b)	 Plots of land for future development comprises of:

(i)	 a plot of land received by a subsidiary as a grant from the Government of Fujairah; and

(ii)	 other plots of land for residential cum commercial development

As at 31 December 2018, the fair valuation of the plots of land has been carried out using the sales 
comparison approach resulting in a net fair valuation loss of AED 16 million (2017: fair valuation gain of 
AED 67 million).

Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes market sales rates.

(c)	 Residential, retail and commercial facilities comprises of:

(i)	 An office cum residential building constructed on a plot of land granted by Government of Dubai in 
2001 which has been leased on operating leases;

(ii)	 Residential units held for rentals amounting to AED 923 million (2017: AED 874.7 million); and

(iii)	Other retail and commercial facilities on operating leases.

The residential,  retail  and  commercial  facilities  have  been  valued  using the sales comparison and 
income capitalization approach,  whichever  relevant,  resulting in a net fair valuation  loss of 
AED 116.6 million (2017: fair valuation gain of AED 27 million).

Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes: future market rental 
cash inflows, capitalisation yield rates and void periods and market sales rates.

Residential properties amounting to AED 457 million (2017: AED 424.1 million) are mortgaged against 
facilities obtained from a bank. Further, the insurance over these properties is also assigned in favor of 
the bank.

(d)	 Labor camps and warehouses:

The fair valuation of labor camps and warehouses at the reporting date has been determined by using an 
income capitalization resulting in a net fair valuation loss of AED 15.5 million (2017: AED 2 million).

Significant unobservable inputs in the fair value measurement mainly includes: future market rental 
cash inflows, capitalisation yield rates and void periods.

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment properties is classified under level 3 fair value hierarchy.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

12.	Investment properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table shows reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 
fair values.

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Balance at 1 January

Additions 7,704,980 6,731,697

Transfers from development properties 284,468 331,630

Transfers from inventories 5,183 22,504

Sale of investment properties 199,895 -

Changes in fair value (unrealized) (4,315) (26,402)
Balance at 31 December 101,897 645,551

8,292,108 7,704,980

Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value

The valuations were determined using the income valuation, income capitalisation approach and sales 
comparison approach based on significant unobservable inputs such that the fair value measurement 
was clarified as level 3.The property portfolio is valued by using a combination of an income capitalization 
approach and income valuation approach (together the ‘income approach’) and sales comparison 
approach. In determining a property’s valuation, the valuer take into account property specific 
information such as the current contracted tenancies agreement and forecast operating expenses. 
They apply assumption for capitalization yield rates and estimated market rent, which are influenced by 
specific characteristics, such as property location, income return and occupancy of each property in the 
portfolio, to arrive at the final valuation.

These inputs include:

Future rental cash inflows based on the actual location, type and quality of the properties 
and supported by the terms of any existing lease, such as market 
rental growth and rent-free periods. If rental rates were 10% higher 
or lower, the valuation would have been AED 614 million higher or 
AED 624 million lower.

Capitalisation yield rates reflecting the current property return yields. If capitalisation yield 
rates were 1% higher/lower, the valuation would have been AED 
55.2 million higher or AED 48.4 million lower respectively.

Void rates reflecting the rate of void or vacancy period during the reversionary 
period life. If void rates were 10% higher/lower, the valuation 
would have been AED 4.1 million higher or AED 7.9 million lower 
respectively.

Discount rates reflecting current market assessments of the uncertainty in the 
amount and timing of cash flows. If discount rates were 1% higher/
lower, the valuation would have been decreased by AED 517 million 
if higher or increased by AED 677 million if lower.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

12.	Investment properties (continued)

Valuation techniques underlying management’s estimation of fair value (continued)

Outgoing expenses including necessary investments to maintain functionality of the property for 
its expected useful life. If maintenance and operating costs were 10% higher/
lower, the valuation would have been AED 112 million higher or AED 111 million 
lower respectively.

The valuation basis and assumptions used for valuation of investments properties remains consistent 
with the methodology adopted as at 31 December 2017.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

13.	Development properties
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

Additions 5,183 22,504

Transferred to investment properties (refer note 12) (5,183) (22,504)
Balance at 31 December - -

14.	  Financial investments
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

(i) Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income - 
refer note 14 (a)

Equity securities 133,586 209,827

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss - refer note 14 (b)

Held for trading quoted equity securities 355,280 500,953
Unquoted equity securities, funds, bonds and sukuks 1,073,947 1,049,271

1,429,227 1,550,224

Geographical distribution of investments:

UAE 730,775 793,102

Other GCC countries 351,243 428,330
Other countries 480,795 538,619

1,562,813 1,760,051
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

14.	Financial investments (continued)

Investments in unquoted equity securities, funds and bonds with a fair value of AED 682 million (2017: 
AED 580 million) are pledged in favor of banks against borrowings availed (refer note 24).

Sensitivity analysis – equity price risk
The Group’s investments in quoted equity securities are listed on various MENA stock exchanges. For 
such investments classified as at fair value through profit or loss, a 10 % increase/(decrease) in the 
equity prices at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit by AED 31.5 million (2017: 
AED 48.9 million).

(a) Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

This mainly includes:

The Group holds 5% shareholding in First Energy Bank, which is a Sharia’a compliant bank based in the 
Kingdom of Bahrain focused on investment, financing and service needs of the energy sector.

(b)  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

The major investments in unquoted equity securities, funds, bonds and sukuks are in bonds and 
managed funds.

The Group has invested USD 162.5 million (2017: USD 174.3 million) in diversified fixed income bonds 
portfolio and USD 23.2 million (2017: USD 26 million) in managed equity funds by utilizing a related 
leverage facility of USD 116 million (2017: USD 127.9 million). Most of these bonds have counterparty credit 
rating of investment grade and the portfolio has an average maturity of 3 years.

 (c)  Measurement of fair values

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market. The fair values are based on market price 
at the valuation date. The Group’s investment in held for trading quoted equity securities are classified 
in this category.

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments;  quoted  market prices for identical  or similar  instruments  in markets 
that are considered less active; broker quotes; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs 
are directly  or indirectly  observable  from market data. The Group’s investment in structured funds, 
sukuks and bonds are classified in this category.

Level  3:  Valuation  techniques  using  significant  unobservable  inputs.  This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation techniques include inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.  This category  includes 
instruments   that  are  valued  based  on  quoted  prices  for  similar  instruments   where  significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

In certain cases, the valuation is also determined based on fund manager valuation reports and project 
progress reports. The Group’s investment in unquoted equity securities and managed funds are 
classified in this category.  Generally,  a  change  in  underlying  comparative  data  used  for  estimating  
fair  value  is accompanied by a change in the fair value.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

14.	Financial investments (continued)

(c) Measurement of fair values (continued)

The Group has reviewed the fair value of investments classified as fair value through profit or loss and 
accordingly, a loss of AED 153.3 million has been recorded in profit or loss during the current year (2017: 
loss of AED 30.5 million). The loss has arisen mainly due to marked to market of held for trading equity 
securities and decline in fair value of certain unquoted equity securities, funds and bonds.  

The Group has reviewed the fair value of investments in unquoted equity securities classified as fair value 
through other comprehensive  income and accordingly,  a loss of AED 48.2 million has been recorded in 
other comprehensive income during the current year (2017: loss of AED 21.1 million).

The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, 
by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

31 December 2018
Level 1 

AED’000
Level 2

AED’000
Level 3

AED’000
Total

AED’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 349,971 699,513 379,743 1,429,227

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 645 -  132,941 133,586

---------- ---------- ---------- ----------
350,616 699,513 512,684 1,562,813
====== ====== ====== ======

31 December 2017
Level 1 

AED’000
Level 2

AED’000
Level 3

AED’000
Total

AED’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 500,953 742,679 306,592 1,550,224

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 736 - 209,091 209,827

---------- ---------- ---------- ----------
501,689 742,679 515,683 1,760,051
====== ====== ====== ======

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values measurements of investments

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

As at 1 January 515,683 553,685
Additions during the year 95,659 80,843
Redeemed/ sold during the year (32,187) (17,198)
Transfer out (refer below) - (84,683)

Loss recorded in OCI
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) (48,205) (21,060)
(Loss)/gain recorded in profit or loss
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) (18,266) 4,096
As at 31 December 512,684 515,683



14. Financial investments (continued)

(c) Measurement of fair values (continued)

During the previous year, the Group swapped its investment in Energy City Navi Mumbai Investment 
Company and Mumbai IT Telecom City (both unquoted) with the shares of Gulf Finance House (GFH) 
(quoted). Consequently, the investment was transferred from Level 3 to Level 1.

Investments sold during the year represents sale of investment in unquoted equity securities with 
a carrying value of AED 26.3 million classified as fair value through other comprehensive income. 
Upon sale of investment, the related fair value reserve amounting to AED 150.8 million has been 
transferred to retained earnings. 

Sensitivity analysis

Investments classified as Level 3, a 10 % increase/(decrease) in the NAV value at the reporting date 
would have increased/(decreased) profit by AED 51.3 million (2017: AED 51.6 million).

15	 Investment in equity accounted investees’

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Investment in joint ventures (refer (i) below) 9,441 431,494

Investment in associates (refer (ii) below) 237,313 175,183

Total investment in equity accounted investees 246,754 606,677

(i)	 Joint ventures

>	 Effective 1 January 2018, the Company acquired additional 50% stake in its existing joint 
venture namely Emirates District Cooling LLC (Emicool). Post-acquisition of the additional 
interest, EMICOOL has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and has been 
consolidated on a line-by-line basis in these consolidated financial statements (refer note 
39b).

>	 During the year, the Group divested its stake in its joint venture entity namely Dubai 
International Driving Center LLC (refer note 40).

The following are the investments in joint ventures held by the Group as at 31 December 2018:

QDI Sport Management Company LLC (QDI)

QDI is a joint venture between the Group and Al Qudra Sports Management LLC. The principal 
activities of the joint venture are to engage in sports clubs and facilities management and other 
sports related activities. The Group effectively owns 50% equity in this entity.

Palisades Development Company LLC

This is a limited liability company registered in the UAE. The principal activities of the entity 
is management and administration of a project undertaken on plots of land located in Dubai 
Investments Park.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

15. Investment in equity accounted investees’ (continued)

The following table summarizes the financial information of joint ventures as included in their own 
financial statements. The table also reconciles the summarized financial information to the carrying 
amount of the Group’s interest in joint ventures.

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Non-current assets 258 1,797,296
Current assets 62,356 304,568
Non-current liabilities (32,542) (990,816)
Current liabilities (11,190) (272,610)
Net assets (100%) 18,882 838,438

Group’s share of net assets 9,441 419,219
Goodwill - 12,275
Carrying amount of interest in joint ventures 9,441 431,494

Income 58,236 473,378
Depreciation and amortization - (45,956)
Interest expense - (28,263)
Other expenses (57,002) (318,031)
Profit for the year (100%) 1,234 81,128

Group’s share of profit 617 40,564
Group’s share of other comprehensive income - -
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 617 40,564

Dividends received by the Group - 20,000

(ii)	Associates

These mainly includes the following entities:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Associate
Globalpharma LLC 34 34
Emirates Aluminium Rolling (“Emiroll”) LLC 30 30
KCH Healthcare LLC 26.75 26.75
Clemenceau Medical Center FZ (“CMC Dubai”) 20 20
Africa Crest Education (“ACE”) 32 -
Mojavi 4 Limited (*) 40 40
Mojavi 9 Limited (*) 55 55
Mojavi 10 Limited (*) 36 36
Mojavi 20 Limited (*) 20 25
Mojavi 11 Limited (*) - 55
Mojavi 15 Limited (*) - 55
Al Mal MENA Income Fund (*) - 19

* Percentage ownership reflects the direct ownership through subsidiaries and is not the effective 
ownership of the Group.



15. Investment in equity accounted investees’  (continued)

The following table summarizes the financial information of associates, adjusted for fair value 
adjustments at recognition and differences in accounting policies.  The table also reconciles the 
summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in associates as 
at 31 December 2018.

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Total assets 1,300,445 652,907
Total liabilities (751,336) (352,097)
Net assets (100%) 549,109 300,810

Group’s share of net assets 172,421 82,303
Fair value adjustment of retained interest upon initial recognition 175,748 175,748
Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee (110,856) (82,868)
Carrying amount of interest in associates 237,313 175,183

Income 126,341 131,127
Expenses (234,272) (217,077)
Loss for the year (100%) (107,931) (85,950)

Group’s share of loss (29,769) (22,167)
Group’s share of other comprehensive income - -
Group’s share of total comprehensive income (29,769) (22,167)

During the year, the Group carried out an assessment of the recoverable amount of an associate 
based on the fair value less costs of disposal. The assessment resulted in an impairment loss of 
AED 28.0 million (2017: AED 82.9 million). Fair value less costs of disposal has been computed using 
discounted cash flow projections. Key assumptions include: discount rate of 8.9% and terminal 
growth rate of 1%.

(iii) The movement in investment in equity accounted investees’ is as follows:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

At 1 January 606,677 664,251
Group’s share of (loss)/profit for the year (29,152) 18,397
Dividends received during the year - (20,000)
Impairment of investment in equity accounted investee (27,990) (82,868)
On acquisition of controlling interest in a joint venture
(refer note 39b)

(375,346) -

Disposal of entities (13,849) (20,503)
Investments made during the year 86,414 47,400
At 31 December 246,754 606,677
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

16. Rent receivable

Rent receivable represents the differential between the amount billed to tenants and the amount 
recognized as rental income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, including the option 
to renew the lease at the end of the initial lease term, as required by IAS 17 – Leases. The difference 
principally arises due to an initial rent free period allowed and the rent increase agreed after the expiry 
of the initial term of the lease. Rent received in advance from lessees is netted off in determining the net 
rent receivable as at the reporting date.

17. Finance lease receivable

The Group has the following interest in finance leases:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Gross investment 3,181 4,769

Unearned finance income (217) (395)

Net investment 2,964 4,374

Less: amount due in less than one year classified
under other receivables (refer note 20)

(1,387) (1,424)

Non-current portion 1,577 2,950

The finance leases receivable by the Group are as follows:

Minimum 
lease 

payments
2018

AED’000

Interest
2018

AED’000

Principal
2018

AED’000

Minimum
lease 

payments
2017

AED’000

Interest
2017

AED’000

Principal
2017

AED’000

Less than one year 1,435 48 1,387 1,538 114 1,424

Between one and 
five years

1,746 169 1,577 3,231 281 2,950

3,181 217 2,964 4,769 395 4,374

The Group’s interest in finance leases represents the lease of land let out on long term leases, whereby, 
the present value of the residual interest at the end of the lease term is estimated to be negligible. These 
leases are therefore accounted for as finance leases under IAS 17 Leases. The terms of payment range 
from 2 to 5 years. No contingent rent is receivable.



18. Inventories

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Raw materials, work-in-progress and spares 
(net of provision for old and slow moving inventories)

183,685 164,153

Finished goods 60,015 51,498
Goods in transit 2,417 2,738
Properties under development/ held for sale 
(net of provision for write down to net realizable value)

2,559,733 2,538,013

2,805,850 2,756,402

Less: properties under development for sale classified as non-
current (net of provision for write down to net realizable value)

(353,059) (1,884,145)

2,452,791 872,257
Inventories carried at net realizable value 1,006,031 1,013,656

Properties under development for sale represent cost of land and expenditure incurred towards the 
development of properties for subsequent sale. The Group intends to develop these properties for 
sale and has classified certain properties as long term based on future development plans. 

Net realizable values for properties under development for sale have been estimated by independent 
registered valuers in accordance with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual issued by the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors using a combination of valuation techniques including the sales 
comparison approach, feasibility studies and indicative pricing studies. Based on these valuations, 
a decline in net realizable value of AED 73.3 million has been recognized during the current year 
(2017: AED 60.2 million). Net realizable value estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncer-
tainties and matters of significant judgment and therefore, cannot be determined with precision. 

As at 31 December 2018, the Group is carrying a provision of AED 149.5 million (2017: AED 76.2 
million) against properties under development for sale.

Borrowing costs capitalized on properties under development for sale amounted to AED 77.5 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 33 million). Borrowing costs were capitalised at 
the weighted average rate of its borrowings of 5% (31 December 2017: 5%).

Inventories amounting to AED 1,117 million (2017: AED 1,147 million) are mortgaged against facili-
ties obtained from banks. In certain instances, the insurance over inventories is also assigned in 
favor of banks.

During the year, the management based on a change in use of properties under development for 
sale to lease to third parties, reclassified inventories with a carrying value of AED 199.9 million to 
investment properties (refer note 12).

Further during the year, the Group commenced construction of two hotels on plots of land clas-
sified as inventories in the earlier years. Accordingly, an amount of AED 180.5 million has been 
reclassified from inventories to property, plant and equipment in the current year (refer Note 10).

19. Trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated net of provision for doubtful debts amounting to AED 165.3 million 
(2017: AED 125.3 million). Trade receivables that are expected to be realized after twelve months 
from the reporting date have been classified as non-current. Refer Note 42.

Trade receivables amounting to AED 45.64 million are assigned against the facilities availed from 
the banks as at 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 91 million). 
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

20. Due from related parties and other receivables

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Non – current
Capital advance 24,846 27,878
Other receivables 21,261 12,776
Due from related parties - 23,731

46,107 64,385
Current
Other receivables and prepayments

> retentions receivable 90,924 63,201
> receivable from customers for use of margin facilities 155,339 167,872
> advances paid to suppliers 168,735 125,350
> prepayments 42,660 40,880
> others 141,846 156,743

Current portion of net investment in finance leases (refer note 17) 1,387 1,424
Due from related parties 578 26,332
Due from customers for contract work (refer (ii) below) 63,245 100,769

664,714 682,571

(i)	 Other receivables that are expected to be realized after twelve months from the reporting date have 
been classified as non-current.

(ii)	 Movement in due from customers for contract work is as follows:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Contract costs incurred 820,579 734,521
Recognized profits less recognized losses (60,414) 6,909

760,165 741,430
Progress billings (696,920) (640,661)

Due from customers for contract work 63,245 100,769

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 100,769 142,433
Additions during the year 659,396 590,033
Progress billings (696,920) (631,697)

Balance at the ending of the year 63,245 100,769



21.	Short term deposits and cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Short term deposits
Short term deposits with banks having maturity 

of more than 3 months
69,373 12,376

Short term deposits within UAE under lien with banks 65,050 14,300

134,423 26,676

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in hand 1,374 892
Cash at bank within UAE (current accounts) 544,056 474,237
Cash at bank outside UAE – GCC Countries (current accounts) 6,369 16,458
Cash at bank outside UAE – Other countries (current accounts) 31,094 25,212
Short term deposits within UAE having maturity 

of less than 3 months
215,176 423,546

Total cash and cash equivalents 798,069 940,345

22. Long-term bank borrowings
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000
Long-term borrowings 3,043,553 998,982
Less: Current portion of long term bank borrowings (Note 24) (280,863) (114,993)

Non-current portion of long-term bank borrowings 2,762,690 883,989

The terms of the bank borrowings vary from three to ten years. These are secured by a combination 
of the Company’s corporate guarantee, mortgages over certain investment properties, 
inventories, trade receivables, property, plant and equipment, assignment of receivables and 
insurance policies over assets of the Group and lien on bank deposits. The interest rate of 
majority of the bank borrowings range between 1.5% to 3.5% over EIBOR/LIBOR p.a.. Where there 
is a corporate guarantee, the Company’s liability is generally restricted to its percentage of equity 
interest in the borrowing entity.

A subsidiary of the Company namely Dubai Investments Real Estate LLC has signed a long term 
loan facility of AED 1,080 million with the banks to finance the construction of a real estate 
development project. The facility has a term of 10 years with the available utilization period of 
up to 4 years. The repayment will commence immediately after the completion of the utilization 
period and will be through semi-annual instalments.

The facility consists of the following covenants which needs to be complied with by the Guarantor 
(i.e. the Company) and the Borrower (i.e. the subsidiary).
For Guarantor:

> Minimum tangible net worth of AED 8 billion
> Net debt/EBITDA not to exceed 5 times
> Debt/equity 1:1 or below
> Total debt/tangible net worth of 1:1 or lower
> Unencumbered assets to total unsecured debt of 2:1 or higher
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

22. Long-term bank borrowings (continued)

For Borrower:

> Debt service coverage ratio of 1.2X to EBITDA
> Loan to value of the project not to exceed 50%

 
As at 31 December 2018, the subsidiary has utilized AED 505.5 million from the loan facility (2017: 
AED 52.7 million). The Group has complied with all covenants.

23. Sukuk notes

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Sukuk notes (300,000 notes of USD 1,000 each) 1,101,600 1,101,600

In February 2014, a subsidiary of the Company namely Dubai Investments Park Development Company 
LLC (“DIPDC”) issued 5 year Sukuk certificates maturing in February 2019 for USD 300 million (equivalent 
to AED 1,101.6 million). The Sukuk program is structured as a Wakala and is listed on NASDAQ Dubai and 
Irish Stock Exchanges. The terms of the arrangement include transfer of certain identified assets (the 
Wakala assets) of DIPDC to a Special Purpose Vehicle, DIP Sukuk Ltd. (the Issuer), formed for the issuance 
of Sukuk certificates. In substance, the Wakala assets remain in control of DIPDC and shall continue to 
be serviced by DIPDC. In case of any shortfall in cash flows, DIPDC have provided an undertaking to make 
good on such shortfall to the Sukuk certificate holders. The Sukuk certificate holders have no recourse 
to the assets. These Sukuk certificates bear a fixed profit rate of 4.291% p.a. payable semi-annually.  The 
Issuer will service the profit from returns generated from the Wakala assets.

Sukuk notes contains the following covenants which need to be complied with by DIPDC during the full 
tenure of the notes:

> Negative pledge: Absolute prohibition on assigning security on lease assets;
> Gross debt to EBITDA not to exceed 4x;
> EBITDA to profit not less than 2.5x; and
> Investment properties value not less than AED 3 billion.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date i.e. on 20 February 2019, DIPDC repaid the Sukuk notes by obtaining 
a bilateral loan facility from a local financial institution. 

24. Bank borrowings
2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000
Bank overdraft, trust receipt loans and bills discounted 455,051 548,089
Short term loans 733,302 530,363
Current portion of long term bank borrowings 280,863 114,993

1,469,216 1,193,445

The bank borrowings are secured by a combination of mortgages and corporate guarantees. Where there 
is a corporate guarantee, the Group’s liability is mostly restricted to its percentage of equity interest in 
the borrowing entity.



24. Bank borrowings (continued)

Short term loans amounting to AED 426.2 million (2017: AED 469.7 million) have been obtained 
for investments in bonds, funds and structured products and are secured against the pledge of 
those investments in favor of banks (refer note 14).

The following table sets out an analysis of net debt as of the reporting period end:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Cash and cash equivalents 798,069 940,345
Short-term deposits with banks 134,423 26,676
Liquid investments* 1,050,129 1,244,368

1,982,621 2,211,389

Sukuk notes (1,101,600) (1,101,600)
Borrowings - repayable within one year (including overdraft) (1,469,216) (1,193,445)
Borrowings - repayable after one year (2,762,690) (883,989)

Net debt (3,350,885) (967,645)

* Liquid investments comprise investments classified as Level 1 and Level 2 (refer Note 14 (c)).

The Group had access to undrawn banking facilities of AED 1,688.9 million as at 31 December 2018 
(2017: AED 1,776.3 million). 

25. Trade and other payables

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Non-current
Other payables 161,095 68,847

Current
Trade payables 612,371 519,863
Payable to Government of Dubai for their share 
of realized profit of a subsidiary (refer note 12)

115,358 116,183

Unearned rent (refer note 12) 179,308 166,002
Advances received from customers / due to customers 118,864 114,327
Other payables and accrued expenses 748,390 512,047

1,774,291 1,428,422
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

26. Share capital and share premium

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Authorized:
8,000 million shares of AED 1/- each 
(2017: 8,000 million shares of AED 1 each) 8,000,000 8,000,000

Issued and paid up:
4,252.02 million shares of AED 1/- each 
(2017: 4,252.02 million shares of AED 1 each) 4,252,018 4,252,018

In the year 1998, 5,474 unallocated shares were sold at the prevailing market price to a shareholder, at a 
premium of AED 46,000.

27. Capital reserve

Capital reserve comprises the net gain on sale of the Company’s own shares (treasury shares) by a 
subsidiary of the Company in the earlier years.

28. Legal and general reserve

In accordance with the Articles of Association of entities within the Group, Article 103 and Article 239 
of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 10% of the profit for the year of the individual entities, to  which  
the  law  is  applicable,  is  to  be  transferred  to  the  legal  reserve.  Such transfer may be discontinued 
when the legal reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital of the respective individual entities. This 
reserve is non-distributable except in certain circumstances as mentioned in the above- mentioned law.

Further, in accordance with the Articles of Association of certain entities within the Group, 10% of the 
profit for the year is required to be transferred to a general reserve. However, as per the Articles of 
Association of these entities, the transfer may be discontinued upon a resolution passed at the Ordinary 
General Meeting if proposed by the Board of Directors.

Accordingly, the companies within the Group, where applicable, have transferred amounts to legal and 
general reserve.

29. Revaluation reserve

In prior years, a plot of land was granted to the Company by the Government of Dubai (refer note 12(c)) 
which was recorded as property, plant and equipment at a nominal value. Upon construction of an office 
cum residential building in 2001 on the granted land for the purposes of leasing, the land was transferred 
from property, plant and equipment to investment properties at fair value in prior years. The resulting 
gain on fair valuation of AED 20 million was credited to a non-distributable revaluation reserve at the 
time of transfer.

30. Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of investments classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income (refer note 14).



31. Proposed dividend/bonus shares

For the year 2018, the Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend of 10% to the shareholders 
of the Company.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 18 April 2018, the shareholders approved 12% cash dividend 
proposed by the Board of Directors. The dividend amounting to AED 510.2 million was paid during 
the current year.

32. Proposed directors’ fee

Proposed directors’ fees amounting to AED 10.5 million (2017: AED 12.3 million), represents 
compensation for professional services rendered by the Directors.

33. Basic and diluted earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable 
to Owners of the Company and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
calculated as follows:

2018 2017
Profit attributable to Owners of the Company (AED ‘000) 651,431 1,001,597
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (‘000s) 4,252,018 4,252,018
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.15 0.24

There is no significant impact on earnings per share on adoption of new accounting standards in 
the current year.

34. Commitments

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Capital commitments – contracted and committed 1,634,381 1,886,894

Capital commitments mainly includes the following:

- value of construction contracts awarded to contractors for real estate projects under development.

- a subsidiary of the Company namely Dubai Investments Park Development Company LLC has 
signed an agreement with Roads and Transport Authority to share in the cost of infrastructure 
and development works of the adjoining areas. Total outstanding commitment as at 31 December 
2018 amounts to AED 305.5 million (31 December 2017: AED 334.5 million) which will be invoiced 
and paid until 2029, in semi-annual instalments of AED 14.5 million each.

35. Contingent liabilities

No significant contingent liabilities exist as at 31 December 2018.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

36. Lease rentals

Leases as lessor

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating lease. The minimum lease payments 
receivable under non-cancelable leases are as follows:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Less than one year 458,512 491,563

Between one to five years 1,817,005 1,715,995

More than five years 2,263,342 2,296,012

4,538,859 4,503,570

37. Related party transactions

The Group, in the normal course of business, carries out transactions with other business enterprises 
that fall within the definition of related parties contained in International Accounting Standard 24. 
Related party transactions are entered at mutually agreed terms.

The aggregate value of significant transactions with related parties during the year was as follows:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Land and other lease charges 1,382 5,670

Purchase of an investment property - 39,000

Compensation to key management personnel, including Directors’ fees is as follows:

Short-term benefits (including proposed Directors’ fees) 28,525 29,468

Post-employment benefits 462 415

38. Non-controlling interests

The Group does not have any individually material non-controlling interests in any of its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December 2018. Also refer note 39(a).



39. Investment in subsidiaries

(a) The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 December 
2018:

Entity Incorporated in Ownership %
Dubai Investments Park Development Co. LLC UAE 100
Dubai Investment Real Estate Company LLC UAE 100
Emirates District Cooling LLC (Emicool)* UAE 100
Al Taif Investment Company LLC UAE 60
Dubai Investments Industries LLC UAE 100
Glass LLC UAE 100
Masharie LLC UAE 75.63
Dubai Investments International Limited UAE 100
Al Mal Capital PSC UAE 66.61
Properties Investment LLC UAE 70

(i)	 Dubai Investment Real Estate Company LLC owns 100% equity interest in a subsidiary, 
	 Al Mujamma Real Estate LLC.

(ii)  The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Dubai Investments Industries LLC 
as at 31 December 2018:

Emirates Building Systems Company LLC UAE 100
The Edible Oil Company (Dubai) LLC UAE 100
Dubai Cranes and Technical Services LLC UAE 80
Emirates Extruded Polystyrene LLC UAE 51
Techsource LLC UAE 100
DIID Management DMCC UAE 90
University of Balamand Dubai (Branch)* UAE 100

(iii)	The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Glass LLC as at 31 December 2018:

Emirates Glass LLC UAE 100
Lumi Glass Industries LLC UAE 76.5
Emirates Float Glass LLC UAE 100
Saudi American Glass Company Limited KSA 100
Emirates Insolaire LLC UAE 51

(iv)	The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Masharie LLC as at 31 December 
2018:

Emirates Extrusion Factory LLC UAE 100
White Aluminum Extrusion LLC UAE 51
Folcra Beach Industrial Co LLC UAE 80
Gulf Dynamic Services LLC UAE 70
Labtech Interiors LLC UAE 70
Gulf Dynamic Switchgears Company LLC UAE 100
Gulf Metal Craft LLC UAE 100
Technological Laboratory Furniture - 
Manufacturers
(Labtech) LLC UAE 70
Lite Tech Industries LLC UAE 54
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

39. Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

(v)	 The following are the investments in subsidiaries held by Al Mal Capital PSC as at 31 December 2018:

Al Mal Real Estate Fund UAE 64
Al Mal MENA Equity Fund Bahrain 36
Al Mal Capital Partners Fund UAE 32
Al Fares Private Equity Fund UAE 31
Al Mal Direct Equity 1 Ltd. UAE 100
Al Mal Capital (Mauritius) Ltd. Mauritius 100
Saqer Investments Limited Cayman Islands 100
Al Mal MENA Income Fund Cayman Islands 100
Al Mal Fund Company BSC Bahrain 99

Although, Al Mal Capital PSC owns less than 50% of Al Mal MENA Equity Fund, Al Mal Capital Partners Fund 
and Al Fares Private Equity Fund, these have been consolidated as the investors are not able to remove 
the fund manager without cause. In addition, the Group is exposed to significant variability in returns 
from its involvement and has the power and the rights to affect the amounts of its returns.

* Became subsidiary during the current year

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary

With effect from 1 January 2018, the Group acquired additional 50% shares in its existing jointly 
controlled entity, Emirates District Cooling LLC (‘EMICOOL’) from the joint venture partner. Taking control 
of EMICOOL will enable the Group to implement its strategic plans and increase the intrinsic value of the 
business. Upon acquisition of the additional interest, EMICOOL has become a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Group. Accordingly, the investment in the equity accounted investee has been derecognised and the 
entity has been consolidated on a line by line basis effective from the date of acquisition. 



39. Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (continued)

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed at the date of acquisition:

% interest acquired 50%
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired: AED’000

Non-current assets (excluding intangible assets) 1,852,012
Intangible assets (customer contracts) 233,272
Current assets (excluding cash and bank balances) 133,963
Cash in hand and at bank 94,574
Total assets 2,313,821

Non-current liabilities (880,451)
Current liabilities (220,534)
Non-controlling interest (4,311)
Total liabilities (1,105,296)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 1,208,525

Purchase consideration – (A) 500,000
Fair value of previously held equity interest 604,262
Total consideration 1,104,262
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (1,208,525)
Bargain purchase gain (104,263)

Gain on fair valuation of existing interest in EMICOOL
Fair value of existing 50% interest in EMICOOL at 1 January 2018 604,262
Less: carrying amount of interest in EMICOOL at 1 January 2018 (375,346)
Gain on fair valuation of existing interest prior to acquisition 
of controlling stake

228,916

Cash acquired (B) 94,574

Net cash outflow (A) – (B) (405,426)

The Group engaged an independent valuer to perform the fair valuation of net assets acquired. 
A combination of valuation techniques depending upon the nature of the asset were used for 
measuring the fair values of significant assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These included: 
depreciated replacement costs, discounted cash flows, income capitalization and comparable 
market value, whichever was most relevant.

40. Disposal of a joint venture

During the current year, the Group disposed its 50% shareholding in jointly controlled entity, 
Dubai International Driving Centre LLC. The disposal resulted in a gain of AED 21.1 million which is 
included under gain on sale of investments.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

41. Accounting estimates and judgments

Management has reviewed the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting 
policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The following are the critical 
accounting estimates and judgment used by management in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements:

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The Group fair values its investment properties. External, independent valuation companies, having 
the appropriate recognized professional qualification value majority of the properties annually. Note 12 
contains information about the valuation methodology considered by the third party valuers.

(b) Net Realisable Value (NRV) assessment of property under development / held for sale

The Group reviews its inventories to assess any loss on account of diminution in the value of real estate 
inventories on a regular basis i.e. NRV assessment. A significant portion of the Group’s inventories 
comprise property under development for sale. For certain properties under development / held for 
sale, NRV has been estimated with assistance from independent registered valuer. There are significant 
estimates and judgements involved including the Group’s estimate of the sale price and construction 
cost for properties under development, which due to inherent nature of estimates, cannot be determined 
with precision.

(c) Revenue recognition from sale of properties under development

(i) Satisfaction of performance obligations for property and land sales

The Group is required to assess each of its contracts with customers and apply judgment in order to 
determine whether performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time in order to 
determine the appropriate method of recognising revenue.

Revenue from the sale of property and land is recognised over time where any of the following criteria is 
determined to be met:

>	 The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 
created or enhanced; or

>	 The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance obligations completed to date.

 Where none of the above conditions are met, revenue is recognised at a point in time.

(i) Cost to complete of the properties under development

The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its revenue from sale of 
properties held for development and sale. Use of the percentage-of-completion method requires the 
Group to estimate the cost incurred to date as a proportion of the total estimated project cost. The 
amount of revenue recognised for the period is in proportion to the percentage of cost incurred.

Using the proportion of cost incurred to date to the estimated cost of the project method requires 
the Group to estimate the obligations performed to date as a proportion of the total obligations to be 
performed under contracts with customers for sale of properties held for development and sale. These 
estimates include the cost of providing infrastructure, potential claims by contractors as evaluated by 
the project consultant and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers. 



41. Accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

(d) Impairment of goodwill and other assets

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses (refer accounting policy on impairment). Testing for impairment requires management to 
estimate the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated.

Furthermore, other assets such as property, plant and equipment, investments in equity 
accounted investees are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 
Testing for impairment of these assets requires management to estimate the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating unit.

(e) Contract revenue - cost-to cost (input method) to measure progress of construction contracts

The Group uses the cost-to-cost (input method) in accounting for its construction contracts. 
At each reporting date, the Group is required to estimate the stage of completion and costs to 
complete on its construction contracts. This requires the Group to make estimates of future 
costs to be incurred, based on work to be performed beyond the reporting date. These estimates 
also include the cost of potential claims by subcontractors and the cost of meeting other 
contractual obligations to the customers. Effects of any revision to these estimates are reflected 
in the period in which the estimates are revised. When the expected contract costs exceeds 
the total anticipated contract revenue, the total expected loss is recognised immediately, as 
soon as foreseen, whether or not work has commenced on these contracts. The Group uses its 
commercial team to estimate the costs to complete of construction contracts. Factors such as 
delays in expected completion date, changes in the scope of work, changes in material prices, 
labour costs and other costs are included in the construction cost estimates based on best 
estimates updated on a regular basis.

(f) Determining fair values of financial investments
 
The determination of fair value for financial investments for which there is no observable market 
price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in Note 14. For financial investments 
that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires 
varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, 
pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

(g) Accounting for a business combination

With effect from 1 January 2018, the Group acquired 50% shares in its existing jointly controlled 
entity, Emirates District Cooling LLC (“EMICOOL”) from the joint venture partner. The Group 
engaged an external independent valuer to perform the purchase price allocation exercise, the 
fair valuation of acquired assets and liabilities, and the identification and valuation of intangible 
assets acquired in the business. This valuation therefore required significant judgement and use 
of assumptions in performing this exercise. Note 39 contains information about the valuation 
methodology considered by the third party valuers.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

42. Financial instruments

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Investments in bonds, sukuks and structured funds 597,089 683,362
Rent receivable 43,958 40,520
Finance lease receivable 1,577 2,950
Trade receivables (net) 1,205,353 1,078,701
Due from related parties and other receivables 474,580 553,327
Short-term deposits with bank 134,423 26,676
Cash and cash equivalents 798,069 940,345
Carrying amount 3,255,049 3,325,881

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and finance lease receivables at the reporting 
date by geographic region was:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Domestic 1,060,688 927,298
Other GCC countries 106,830 112,509
Other regions 39,412 41,844

1,206,930 1,081,651

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and finance lease receivables at the reporting 
date by type of customer was:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Contracting 265,327 122,426
Real estate 327,694 589,262
Others   613,909 369,963

1,206,930 1,081,651



42. Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach on trade receivables, retention receivables, rent 
receivables and due from customers for contract work to measure the expected credit losses 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are 
based on the historical credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the gross domestic product of the 
countries in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly 
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Based on existing credit risk management practices, the default definition has been determined 
which aptly captures the gradual deterioration of the receivables under consideration.
 
The collateral get factored through loss given default estimates and hence are not used to adjust 
exposure while computing expected credit loss. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by 
investing with counterparties that have credible market reputation. The Group’s management 
does not expect any significant counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year 
was as follows:

Total
2018

AED’000

1 January: Opening impairment provision under IAS 39 125,331
Impact on adoption of adoption of IFRS 9 30,794
Opening impairment provision as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 156,125
Impairment loss recognized 9,174
31 December - closing impairment 
provision 165,299

Further, an impairment provision of AED 22.67 million is recognised on due from customers for 
contract work at 31 December 2018 (2017: AED Nil).

53

N
ot

es
Du

ba
i In

ve
st

m
en

ts
 P

JS
C 

an
d 

its
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s 

– 
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
8

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)



54

N
ot

es
Du

ba
i In

ve
st

m
en

ts
 P

JS
C 

an
d 

its
 s

ub
si

di
ar

ie
s 

– 
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
8

Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

42. Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The impairment provision as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was 
determined for the trade receivables within the real estate business, as follows, based on management 
assessment of default period being 180 days from the date the counter party fails to make contractual 
payment:

AED’ 000
31 December 2018 Current More than 180 

days overdue
More than 365 

days overdue
Total

Expected loss rate 1% 1% 16%
Gross carrying amount – trade 
receivables

250,780 145,532 266,878 663,190

Loss allowance 1,632 947 43,490 46,069

1 January 2018 Current More than 180 
days overdue

More than 365 
days overdue

Total

Expected loss rate 1% 1% 7%
Gross carrying amount – trade 
receivables

104,665 129,409 396,535 630,609

Loss allowance 1,353 1,165 27,473 29,991

In addition to above loss allowance, the Group has recognised specific impairment provision of 
AED 8.7 million (2017: AED 14.2 million).

The impairment provision as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was 
determined for the trade receivables within the manufacturing and services business, as follows, based 
on management assessment of default period being 90 days from the date the counter party fails to 
make contractual payment:

AED’ 000
31 December 2018 Current More than 90 

days overdue
More than 180 
days overdue

Total

Expected loss rate 5% 12% 15%
Gross carrying amount – trade 
receivables

311,562 117,690 193,714 622,966

Loss allowance  15,431  13,592  28,532  57,555 

1 January 2018 Current More than 90 
days overdue

More than 180 
days overdue

Total

Expected loss rate 5% 11% 14%
Gross carrying amount – trade 
receivables

237,729 81,852 143,391 462,972

Loss allowance 12,946 8,749 20,150 41,845

In addition to above loss allowance, the Group has recognised specific impairment provision of 
AED 20.8 million (2017: AED 26.3 million).



42. Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The impairment provision as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) 
was determined for the contract assets within the contracting business, as follows, based on 
management assessment of default period being 365 days from the date the counter party fails 
to make contractual payment:

AED’000
31 December 2018 Current Upto 365 

days overdue
More than 365 

days overdue
Total

Expected loss rate 6% 10% 66%
Gross carrying amount – trade 
receivables

 29,462 18,233 36,801 84,496

Loss allowance 1,883 1,864 24,206 27,953

1 January 2018 Current Upto 365 
days overdue

More than 365 
days overdue

Total

Expected loss rate 7% 9% 47%
Gross carrying amount – trade 
receivables

63,204 38,472 51,423 153,098

Loss allowance 4,152 3,592 23,977 31,720

In addition to above loss allowance, the Group has recognised specific impairment provision of 
AED 4.2 million (2017: AED 12.1 million).

Cash and cash equivalents, short term deposits and due from related parties are also subject to 
the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. For cash and cash equivalents, short term deposits and 
due from related parties probability of default is derived from benchmarking and default rate 
studies conducted by external rating agencies. Loss given default estimate is taken from Basel 
guidelines. The identified impairment loss on cash and cash equivalents, short term deposits and 
due from related parties were insignificant.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents, as 
the Group holds cash accounts in a number of diversified financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments and excluding the impact of netting agreement.
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42. Financial instruments (continued)

Market risk

Currency risk
2018 2017

Euro’000 Euro’000

Trade and other receivables 951 2,913

Cash at bank 1,125 11
Trade and other payables (4,669) (4,834)
Others 4,499 -

Gross exposure 1,906 (1,910)

Net exposure 1,906 (1,910)

The following exchange rates were applied during the year:

Average rate Spot rate

2018 2017 2018 2017

AED AED AED AED

Euro 4.30 4.14 4.20 4.41

Sensitivity analysis

A limited fluctuation of AED against Euro at 31 December would not have any significant impact 
on profit or loss.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest bearing assets and liabilities. The 
Group manages its exposure arising due to fluctuations in interest rates by the use of derivative 
instruments when appropriate.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments 
was:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 946,624 1,403,658
Financial liabilities (1,144,044) (1,113,551)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 155,339 5,406
Financial liabilities (4,189,462) (2,065,483)
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

42. Financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group accounts for certain fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Group 
does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model.

An increase of 100 basis points (“bps”) in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased profit 
by AED 9.5 million (2017: AED 14 million).  A corresponding decrease of 100 bps in interest rate at the 
reporting date would have caused increase in profit by the same amount. This analysis assumes that all 
other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 100 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/
(decreased)  profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

Profit or (loss)

Effect in AED’000 100 bp 100 bp

increase decrease

31 December 2018 (40,341) 40,341

31 December 2017 (20,601) 20,601

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized costs

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized costs approximate its carrying 
value at 31 December 2018.

43. Subsequent events

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group acquired additional 66% equity interest in its existing 
associate, Globalpharma LLC (refer note 15). Upon acquisition of additional interest, Globalpharma LLC 
has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

The Group is currently in the process of allocating the Purchase Price over the fair value of net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 



44. Segment reporting

The Group has broadly three reportable segments as discussed below, which are the Group’s 
strategic business units. The strategic business units operate in different sectors and are 
managed separately because they require different strategies. The following summary describes 
the operation in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Property development of real estate for sale and leasing

Manufacturing, contracting and services manufacture and sale of materials used in 
construction projects, executing construction 
contracts, production of raw and architectural 
glass, cooling services, production, aluminium 
extruded products, laboratory furniture, 
healthcare and education

Investments strategic minority investments in associates, 
investment banking, asset management and 
financial investments

Information regarding the operations of each segment is included hereafter. Performance 
is measured based on segment revenue and profit as management believes that profit is the 
most relevant factor in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that 
operate within these industries. There are a few transactions between the segments and such 
transaction are carried out on arm’s length basis and are eliminated on consolidation.

During the current period, the Group has re-classified all revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities 
related to investment in associates from manufacturing, contracting and services segment 
to investments segment. Comparative figures have also been re-classified to conform to the 
presentation adopted in consolidated financial statements.
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45. Significant accounting policies

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements except as mentioned in note 3:

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

45.1 Basis of consolidation

(a) Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the control is 
transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured 
at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

>	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
>	 the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
>	 if the business combination has been achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity 

interest in the acquiree, less
>	 the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed. Any gain on bargain purchase is recognized in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred except if related to the issue of debt or equity 
securities.

Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts generally are recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If an obligation 
to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of financial instrument is classified as 
an equity, then it is not re- measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, 
other contingent consideration is measured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases.

(c) Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets at the acquisition date.

Changes in Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions.

(d) Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 
and any related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is 
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when 
the control is lost.

(e) Interests in equity-accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, 
over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint 
control, whereby, the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its 
assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in associates and the joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially 
recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted investees, 
until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (“cash generating units”). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.



45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(f) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 
intra- group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity 
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to 
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

45.2 Revenue

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set 
out in IFRS 15:

Step 1.	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between 
two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the 
criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2.	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a 
promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3.	 Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or 
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Step 4.	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a 
contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Group will allocate the 
transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount 
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying 
each performance obligation.

Step 5.	 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the 
following criteria is met:

1.	 The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs; or

2.	 The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 
asset is created or enhanced; or

3.	 The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and 
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised 
at the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied.

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services 
it creates a contract asset based on the amount of consideration earned by the performance. 
Where the amount of consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue 
recognised this gives rise to a contract liability.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.2 Revenue (continued)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assesses its revenue 
arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has 
concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 

Revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured 
reliably. 

The sales commission paid where applicable, is recognised as prepaid commission and is amortised to 
the statement of comprehensive income over time upon fulfilment of the related performance obligation.

(a) Revenue from sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods and properties in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. No 
element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30-60 days, which is 
consistent with market practice. A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the 
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before 
the payment is due.

(b) Revenue from sale of properties

The performance obligation with regards to sale of properties is satisfied over time, as and when 
construction progresses. 

The revenue from sale of properties is a multiple of management’s total estimated cost for the 
construction and a percentage of completion confirmed by external consultant for each individual 
project.

Management estimates the cost to complete for construction of the project in order to determine the 
cost attributable to revenue being recognised. These estimates include the cost of constructing property, 
potential claims by contractors and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to the customers.

Infrastructure cost allocated to each project is released to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
as cost of properties sold within ‘cost of sales’, based on the percentage of construction completed 
confirmed by external consultants for each project and percentage of infrastructure cost incurred at 
each period end to the total estimated infrastructure cost.



45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.2 Revenue (continued)

(c) Revenue from services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the accounting period in which control of the 
services are passed to the customer, which is when the service is rendered. For certain service 
contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided during the reporting 
period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because the customer receives and 
uses the benefits simultaneously.

For supply of chilled water, revenue comprises of available capacity and variable output provided 
to customer and is recognised when services are provided. Connection fee is recognised on 
straight line basis over the term of respective customer contract, unless it represents a separately 
unidentifiable service and satisfies the criteria for upfront recognition in statement of profit or 
loss.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
When the Group provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of the incentives is recognised over 
the lease term, on a straight-line basis, as a reduction of rental income.

(e) Contract revenue

Contract revenue from construction of building facades, installation and erection of heavy 
machineries and steel fabrication is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. 
Revenue is recognised over time based on the cost-to cost method. The related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss when they are incurred. Advances received are included in contract 
liabilities.

(f) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive 
payment is established.

45.3 Government grant

Government grant is initially recognized at fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that: 

(a)  the Group will comply with the conditions associated to them; and
(b)  the grants will be received.

Government grant that compensates the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit 
or loss on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs 
which they are intended to compensate. An unconditional government grant in the form of 
non-depreciable, non-monetary assets is recognized in profit or loss when the grant becomes 
receivable.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.4 Finance income and expense

The Group’s finance income and expense comprises of the following:

> interest income;
> unwinding of discount on financial assets measured at amortized cost;
> foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities;
> interest expenses/profit on sukuk notes;
> unwinding of discount on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost;
> change in fair value of derivative financial instruments; and
> bank charges

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets are recognized as expense in profit or loss using the effective interest method. However, 
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. The capitalization of borrowing costs commences 
from the date of incurring of expenditure relating to the qualifying asset and ceases when all the 
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete. Borrowing 
costs relating to the period after acquisition, construction or production are expensed. Capitalization 
of borrowing costs is suspended during the extended period in which the active development of a 
qualifying asset has ceased.

Foreign currency gain or losses are represented on a net basis either as finance income or finance 
expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

45.5 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Recognition and measurement

Except for land which is carried at a revalued amount, the Group’s property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working condition for its intended use and capitalized borrowing costs.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in profit or 
loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to 
retained earnings.

(b) Reclassification to investment property

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is re-
measured to fair value and reclassified as investment property.  Any gain arising on re-measurement 
is recognized in profit or loss to the extent the gain reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific 
property, with any remaining gain recognized in the revaluation reserve directly in other comprehensive 
income and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity. Any loss is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity to the extent that an amount had previously 
been included in the comprehensive income relating to the specific property, with any remaining loss 
recognized immediately in profit or loss.



45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(c) Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. The costs of day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment is expensed as incurred.

(d) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other 
amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component, since this mostly reflects 
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is 
reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 
Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of significant items of property, 
plant and equipment are as follows:

 Years
Buildings  15-33
Plant and equipment   3-22
Office equipment and furniture   3-10
Motor vehicles   3- 7

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting period and 
adjusted if appropriate.

(e) Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Assets acquired by way of finance lease is stated at an amount equal to the 
lesser of the asset’s fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payment at inception 
of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (if any).

45.6 Intangible assets

(a) Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

(b) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets including technical know-how, product distribution rights, patents 
and trademarks and customer contracts that have finite useful lives are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. These are amortized as per 
management’s estimate of their useful life, which is between 5 to 39 years.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

45.6 Intangible assets (continued)

(c) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 
goodwill and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate.

(d) Customer contracts

Contract based intangible assets represents the value of rights that arise from contractual agreements. 
The Group enters into a long term contracts spanning over a period of 20 years with individual and 
corporate customers with a renewal option available.

45.7 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 
both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or 
services or for administration purposes. Where the Group provides ancillary services to the co-occupants 
of a property, it treats such a property as investment property if the services are a relatively insignificant 
component in the arrangement as a whole.

An investment property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any 
changes therein are recognized in profit or loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The 
cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended 
use and capitalized borrowing costs.

The fair value adjustments on investment properties are included in profit or loss as investment returns 
in the period in which these gains or losses arise. In determining the carrying amount of investment 
properties, the Group does not double count assets or liabilities that have already been recognized as 
separate assets or liabilities.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair 
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the property) is recognized in profit or loss. When an 
investment property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any related 
amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.



45.8 Inventories

Inventories comprise finished goods, raw materials, work-in-progress, spares and properties 
under development/ held for sale.

(a) Finished goods, raw materials, work-in-progress and spares

Inventories are measured at lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of raw materials and 
spares are based on the weighted average cost method and includes expenditure incurred in 
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Finished 
goods are stated at cost of raw material and also include an appropriate proportion of overheads. 
Work-in-progress is stated at cost of raw materials and directly attributable overheads. Net 
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated 
selling expenses.

(b) Properties under development/held for sale

Properties under development/held for sale are classified as inventories and stated at the lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Cost includes the aggregate cost of development, borrowing costs 
capitalized and other direct expenses. Net realizable value is estimated by the management, 
taking into account the expected price which can be ultimately achieved, based on prevailing 
market conditions and the anticipated costs to completion.

The amount of any write down of properties under development/held for sale is recognized as an 
expense in the period the write down or loss occurs. Any reversal of write down arising from an 
increase in net realizable value is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the increase 
occurs.

45.9 Construction work-in-progress

Construction work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected 
from customers for contract work performed to date. It is measured at contract cost incurred plus 
profits recognized to date less progress billing and less recognized losses. Construction work-
in-progress is presented as part of other receivables in the statement of financial position for all 
contracts in which costs incurred plus recognized profits exceed progress billings. If progress 
billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized profits, then the difference is presented as part of 
other payables in the statement of financial position.

45.10 Financial instruments

(a) Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognizes financial assets on the trade date at which the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. If the financial asset is not subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, the initial measurement includes transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the asset’s acquisition or origination. The Group subsequently 
measures financial assets at either amortized cost or fair value.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any 
interest in such transferred financial asset that is created or retained by the Group is recognized 
as a separate asset or liability.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.10 Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Non-derivative financial assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and 
net of any impairment loss, if:

> the asset is held within a business model with an objective to hold assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows; and
> the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost comprise trade receivables, due from related parties, other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, rent receivables and finance lease receivables.

Financial assets other than those classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost are 
subsequently measured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

However, for investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Group may elect at initial 
recognition to present gains and losses in other comprehensive income on an instrument by instrument 
basis. For instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, gains and losses are 
never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairments are recognized in profit or loss. Dividends earned 
from such investments are recognized in profit or loss unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery 
of part of the cost of the investment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and fixed deposits (with maturity of less 
than three months). Bank overdrafts, trust receipts and bills discounted that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(b) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they 
originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated as fair value through profit or 
loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, sukuk notes and trade and other 
payables. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method.



45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.11 Foreign currency

(a) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of 
Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 
is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign 
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair 
value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair 
value was determined. Non- monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign 
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss.

(b) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on acquisition, are translated to AED at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The 
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to AED at the average exchange rates 
for current year. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in other 
comprehensive income and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. When 
a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, 
the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified 
to profit or loss as part of gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its 
interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant 
proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to the non-controlling interests. When the 
Group disposes of only part of its interest in joint venture or an associate that includes a foreign 
operation while retaining significant influence, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount 
is reclassified to profit or loss.

45.12 Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation. When the effect of time value of money is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance expenses.

45.13 Impairment

(a) Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the 
loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
estimated reliably.
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Dubai Investments PJSC and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.13 Impairment (continued)

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, economic conditions that correlated with 
defaults, adverse changes in the payment status of borrower or issuer, the disappearance of an active 
market for a security, or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in expected cash 
flows for a group of financial assets.

(b) Financial assets measured at amortized cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a collective 
level. All individually significant assets are individually assessed for specific impairment. Those found 
individually not to be impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred 
but not yet individually identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for 
impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries 
and the amount of loss incurred and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are 
such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses 
are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that 
there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the related amount are written off. When a 
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss 
is reversed through profit or loss.

(c) Equity-accounted investees

An impairment loss in respect of an equity accounted investee is measured by comparing the recoverable 
amount of the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, and is 
reversed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

(d) Non- financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets (other 
than investment properties, development properties and inventories) to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not available for use are 
tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 
or CGU’s. Goodwill arising from business combination is allocated to CGU or group of CGU’s that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit (CGU) 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.



45. Significant accounting policies (continued)

45.13 Impairment (continued)

(d) Non- financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the CGU on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Impairment losses, other than in respect 
of goodwill is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.

45.14 Staff terminal benefits

Staff terminal benefits obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 
the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

In accordance with Federal Labour Law No.7 of 1999 for pension and social security, employers 
are required to contribute 12.5% of the ‘contribution calculated on salary’ of those employees 
who are UAE nationals. These employees are also required to contribute 5% of the ‘contribution 
calculated on salary’ to the scheme. The Group’s contribution is recognized as an expense in 
profit or loss as incurred. The employees and employers’ contribution, to the extent remaining 
unpaid at the reporting date, has been shown under other liabilities.

45.15 Leases

(a) As lessee – operating lease

Leases of assets under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating lease are recognized in 
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

(b) As lessee – finance lease

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense 
and the reduction of outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the liability.

45.16 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year. Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
is retrospectively adjusted to include the effect of any increase in the number of shares without 
a corresponding change in resources.

45.17 Segment reporting

Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors (Chief Operating Decision Maker) 
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. 
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ended 31 December 2018 (continued)



ANNUAL CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE  REPORT

2018



1	 Corporate Governance Practices

Since inception, Dubai Investments PJSC (“DI”) has challenged the norms in introducing cutting-edge 
technologies, pioneering business models, unique investment strategies and innovative concepts 
across its diversified portfolio and geographies.  DI contributes to the diversification efforts of the 
region and remain an influential partner in fulfilling the core objectives of the UAE Vision 2021. DI 
also demonstrates its responsibilities to its stakeholders through its commitment to develop and 
enhance the Company’s transparency, and to raise the level of efficiency of its administrative bodies. 

Our corporate governance practices are guided by the Federal Law No.2/2015 concerning Commer-
cial Companies and The Chairman of Authority’s Board of Directors’ Resolution No. (7 R.M) of 2016 
concerning the Standards of Institutional Discipline and Governance of Public Shareholding Compa-
nies (hereafter referred to as ‘Resolution No. 7 R.M.’).  We have fully evaluated these requirements and 
aim to go beyond the regulatory requirements. This report aims to demonstrate the approach and 
extent of corporate governance implementation by the Board of Directors and executive manage-
ment of DI, and our commitment to continue applying the same in the future.

During 2018 we introduced a number of new solutions to improve the Corporate Governance 
processes, including:

>	 Charters for the Insider Trading Supervision Committee and Crisis Management Commit-
tee.

>	 Update of the Investor Relations Manual and Investor Communication & Disclosure Policy, 
as well as the Corporate Governance Manual thereafter.

>	 Revised workflow to monitor and manage Related Party Transactions, if any. Further, a 
Related Party/Conflict of Interest manual has been developed.

>	 Roll-Out of an IT solution to manage the necessary documentation including statutory regis-
ters and declarations from Board Members and Employees.

>	 Roll-Out of IT solution to monitor trades by Deemed Insiders and their relatives and inform 
Deemed Insiders of Black Out Periods.

In difficult market conditions it is even more important for us to be aware of our responsibilities 
towards all of our stakeholders and we do this by applying the best governance practices derived 
from the Company’s values. By doing this, our Board and Executive Management are able to deliver 
on short-term and long-term commitments in a framework of oversight and transparency. DI Board, 
organization structure and executive team are set out in Section 3 below.

A Corporate Governance process is not complete without a system of checks and balances and 
this is provided in DI by the External Auditor, Committees of Non-executive Board members and 
the Internal Control systems as set out in Sections 4 to 9, below.

DI Managing Director is quoted as saying that “the knowledge and happiness quotients of any 
society are rooted in the values and concepts of its social and financial institutions”. DI continues 
to exhibit its values through significant contributions to the Society and Environment. During 2018 
these were mainly themed around the Year of Zayed and are set out in Section 11, herein.

The next phase of the UAE’s journey will be powered through innovation and creativity and some 
of the contributions by DI are explained in section 12 (k) “Innovation Projects and Initiatives”, below.
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2.	 Transactions by Board Members

All Board members have acknowledged that they, their spouses and their children have not traded 
in the Company’s securities during 2018. 

Sr. 
No.

Name/ Relationship Title Number of Shares 
as on 31/12/2018

Total Sell Total Buy

1 Mr. Sohail Faris Ghanim Ateish 
Al Mazrui

Chairman 2,244,842 Nil Nil

Spouse - 742,636 Nil Nil

2 Mr. Hussain Mahyoob Sultan 
Al Junaidy

Vice Chairman 3,623,496 Nil Nil

Spouse - 562,920 Nil Nil

3 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan Director 105,000 Nil Nil

4 Mr. Mohamed Saif Darwish 
Ahmed Al Ketbi

Director 216,605,337 Nil Nil

Spouse  - 105,000 Nil Nil

5 Mr. Abdulrahman Ghanem A. 
Al Mutaiwee

Director Nil Nil Nil

6 Mr. Khaled Mohammad Ali Al 
Kamda

Director Nil Nil Nil

Spouse - 68,862 Nil Nil

Children - 93,733 Nil Nil

Children - 68,862 Nil Nil

7 Mr. Khalid Jassim Mohamed 
Bin Kalban

Managing 
Director and Chief 
Executive Officer

2,532,222 Nil Nil

Spouse - 117,525 Nil Nil

3.	 Board of Directors

(a)	Board of Directors Composition 

The Board comprises the Managing Director and 6 (six) independent and non-executive Directors 
who were unanimously elected by the shareholders for a period of three years during the Annual 
General Meeting held on April 10, 2017.  

All of the Directors are UAE nationals with requisite skills and expertise. 

Biography of the Board Members

The Board Members’ experience, skills and other noteworthy offices held in publicly listed entities 
and Government corporations are detailed below:
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Mr. Sohail Faris Ghanim Ateish Al Mazrui
Board Member for the last 24 years. Chairman of the Board since 2010.
Mr. Sohail Al Mazrui has wide experience in Petroleum Engineering and executive experi-
ence in the Oil Industry. He is the former CEO of Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC) 
as well as the former CEO and Chairman of Aabar. He holds a degree in Petroleum Engineer-
ing and currently is a Board member in the following public joint-stock company:
>	 Vice Chairman of Invest Bank  

Mr. Hussain Mahyoob Sultan Al Junaidy
Board Member for the last 24 years. Vice-Chairman of the Board since 2010.
Mr. Hussain Al Junaidy has been the Chairman and CEO of various companies in the Oil and 
Gas Industry. He is also the founder and former Group CEO of Emirates National Oil Company 
(ENOC). He holds a Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering and is a Chartered Civil Engineer. 
He is also a Business graduate from School of Business, University of Pittsburg, USA.

Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan
Board Member for the last 17 years.
Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan has significant experience in Real Estate Management, Property 
Investments, Capital Investment Management and Hospitality Management. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science in Management and Information System. He currently holds the follow-
ing positions:
>	 Vice Chairman of Al Fardan Group	
>	 Managing Director of Al Fardan Real Estate
>	 CEO of First Investor LLC			 
>	 Board Member of Al Mal Capital PSC
>	 Board Member of Commercial Bank of Dubai PJSC

Mr. Mohamed Saif Darwish Ahmed Al Ketbi
Board Member for the last 9 years.
Mr. Mohamed Al Ketbi has experience in Investments & Projects, Real Estate and Hospital-
ity Sectors. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration majoring in Business 
Management. He currently holds the following positions:		
>	 Board Member of AHI Carrier FZC
>	 Vice Chairman of Danat El Emarat Hospital Project
>	 Board Member of Marka PJSC
>	 Board Member of Al Mal Capital PSC

Independent & Non-executive Directors 
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Key to Committees
AC	 Audit Committee
NRC	 Nomination and Remuneration Committee

	 Committee Chairman

AC     NRC

AC     NRC

AC     NRC



Mr. Abdulrahman Ghanem A. Al Mutaiwee
Board Member for the last 2 years. 
Mr. Abdulrahman Ghanem A. Al Mutaiwee is a high-ranking diplomat and has held senior 
management positions in various ministries and government establishments.
He has also served as the Ambassador of the UAE to the Court of St. James and Iceland. He 
is currently the Director in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation. He 
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from Cairo University and Diploma in Banking and 
Financial Studies from New York. 

Mr. Khaled Mohammad Ali Al Kamda
Board Member for the last 2 years.
Khaled Al Kamda has over three decades of senior management experience across a number 
of sectors including airlines, private equity and banking and has also held senior manage-
ment positions in government establishments. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Electrical 
Engineering from Florida Institute of Technology, USA and a MBA Degree from Cranfield 
School of Management, England. 

Mr. Khalid Jassim Mohamed Bin Kalban
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of DI. Board Member for the last 21 years.
Mr. Khalid Bin Kalban has extensive experience in manufacturing & industrial sectors as well 
as financial, investment and real estate sectors. He holds a degree in Business Management 
from USA and is a Management Major from Metropolitan State College, USA. He currently 
holds the following positions: 
>	 Chairman of Marka PJSC
>	 Chairman of Al Mal Capital PSC
>	 Board Member of National General Insurance PJSC
>	 Board Member  of the Islamic Bank of Asia (Limited) – IBA Singapore
>	 Board Member of Arcapita Investment Management B.S.C. (c ) – Bahrain
>	 Board Member of Ajman Bank PJSC

(b) & (c) Female Representation on the Board

Whilst there is presently no female representation on the Board, it may be noted that DI had a 
female candidate for the Board elections held in April 2017 and it is hoped that female candidates 
will apply for nomination in 2020. 

DI strongly believes in encouraging women’s participation in all levels of the business and pres-
ently women comprise 22% of the Executive Management team.

Executive Director
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(d) Board Remuneration

1.	 The shareholders had approved the Board of Directors remuneration amounting to AED 
12.250 Mn  (Twelve million two hundred and fifty thousand AED) for the year 2017. 

2.	 The Nomination & Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors have recommended 
an amount of AED 10.5  Mn (Ten million five hundred thousand AED) as fixed annual fee for 
Board of Directors for the year 2018. However, the same is subject to shareholders’ approval 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  

3.	 The total fixed allowances for Board Committee meetings for the year are proposed as 
follows:

Sr. 
No.

Name

Allowances for Attending the Board Committe Meetings

Committee
Name

Value of Allow-
ances (AED)

Meetings 
Attended

1 Mr. Hussain Sultan Al Junaidy Audit Committee 150,000 5

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee

120,000 2

2 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan Audit Committee 130,000 3

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee

110,000 1

3 Mr. Mohamed Saif Al Ketbi Audit Committee 150,000 5

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee

120,000 2

4 Mr. Abdulrahman Ghanem A. Al 
Mutaiwee

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee

120,000 2

5 Mr. Khaled Mohammad Ali Al Kamda Audit Committee 140,000 4

(e) Board Meetings

The Board of Directors convened five times during 2018, as follows:

S. No. Date of Board Meeting Number of Attendees Proxy Names of Absent Directors

1 12 March 6 0 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan

2 6 May 7 0 None

3 30 July 5 0 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan 
and Mr. Khaled Al Kamda

4 31 October 6 0 Mr. Abdulrahman Ghanem Al 
Mutaiwee

5 17 December 7 0 None 
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(f) 	Board Duties and Delegation to Executive Management

The powers reserved for the Board of Directors have been explicitly stated in the Board Charter in 
compliance with legislations and regulations inter alia the Companies Law 2/2015 and its amend-
ments, the Articles of Association of the Company and Resolution No. 7 R.M. 

Detailed job descriptions are provided for each member of the Executive Management. During 2018 
the Board did not delegate any of its reserved powers to the Executive Management.

(g)	 Transactions with Related Parties

Transactions between DI and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
stated in this disclosure. The only significant transaction between DI and its related parties, which 
was at arms’ length and identified in the audited financial statements is tabulated below.

Particulars
Associates

2018
AED ‘000

Land and other lease charges

> Global Pharma 1,282
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(i) Executive Management 

The Managing Director & CEO has been appointed by the Board of Directors to oversee the day to day operations of the 
Company and together with the executive management team they effectively implement the Board’s vision, mission 
and strategic initiatives. 

Remuneration paid by the Company to Executive Management in 2018 is tabulated below:

S.No Designation Date of 
appointment

Total Annual 
Salary Paid

i (AED)
*

Total Annual 
Bonus Paid 

(AED)
** 

Any Other Cash or Non Cash 
Rewards in 2018 or which 
shall be due in the future

***

1 Managing Director & Chief Exec-
utive Officer Jul 01, 1995 4,683,181 5,250,000 ***

2 CEO-Building Materials Platform/ 
Chief Risk Officer March 01, 1998 2,442,520 1,100,000 ***

3 Group Chief Financial Officer Jan 02, 2008 1,277,569 500,000 ***

4 Chief Operating Officer Sep 09, 2015 1,577,721 415,000 ***

5 Chief Corporate Affairs Officer May 01, 2005 1,096,229 400,000 ***

6 Chief Internal Controls Officer Oct 03, 2005 1,082,989 400,000 ***

7 Chief Human Resources and 
Administration Officer Nov 01, 2012 996,134 350,000 ***

8 Group Marketing & Communica-
tion Manager Oct 01, 2004 775,818 225,000 ***

9 Group Public Relations Manager Sept 01, 2004 686,918 165,000 ***

Note:
* Includes allowances, general pension and social security
** Paid in 2018 pertaining to 2017
*** Bonuses for the year 2018 have not been declared as of the date of this Report
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4	 External Auditor

a.	 Brief on External auditor
PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) was appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year 2018 by DI Sharehold-
ers in the Annual General Meeting held on 18th April 2018. PwC succeeds the retiring auditors, KPMG, to comply with 
the forthcoming requirement on mandatory rotation of external auditors under the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, 
effective 2019.  

PwC in the UAE is a member firm of PriceWaterhouseCoopers International, a global network of professional member 
firms providing Audit, Tax, and Advisory Services in 158 countries. 

KPMG in the UAE is a member firm of KPMG International, a global network of professional member firms providing 
Audit, Tax and Advisory services in 155 countries.

b.	 Professional fees of the external auditor for 2018 were as follows:

Name of Auditing Firm PwC KPMG

Number of years served as External Auditor for the Company 1 year 21 years

Fees for auditing Interim Financial Statements for Q1 2018 Nil AED103,350

Fees for auditing the DI Financial Statements for Q2 and the Q3 year ended 2018 AED304,750 Nil

Fees and costs of the other special services other than auditing of the 
Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 2018

Nil AED 734,800

Details and nature of the above special services rendered Nil Assistance in 
implementation of 

IFRS 9, 15 and 16 
after Q1 2018

During 2018, DI engaged EY and Deloitte to provide transaction advisory services for which a fee of AED 267,995 and AED 180,026 
was paid respectively.

Additionally, PwC and other auditors have been appointed as external auditors by DI’s subsidiaries for which fees have 
been agreed separately by the relevant subsidiaries.

c.	 External auditors opinion

The external auditor has not qualified its opinion on DI 2018 interim or annual consolidated financial statements.

5	 Audit Committee

The Roles and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee inter alia include:

>	 Review the annual and quarterly Financial Statements;
>	 Review the effectiveness of the Internal Control Over Financial Reporting;
>	 Review of Related Party transactions, managing conflict of interests, and submitting recommendations concerning 

such transactions to the Board;
>	 Review the effectiveness of the Company’s Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) function; and,
>	 Review the adequacy of insurance coverage and legal dispute status.

To provide independence from management, all members of the Audit Committee are Non-Executive and the Chairman of 
the Board is not a member of the Audit Committee.  Mr. Hussain Mahyoob Sultan Al Junaidy was nominated as the finan-
cial expert on the Audit Committee in line with SCA requirements and also serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  
Notably, the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the records of the Company and can seek expert advice if required.
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The Audit Committee convened five times during 2018 on 12 March, 6 May, 30 July, 31 October and 17 December and 
the following table summarizes the members and their attendance:

S.No. Name Title Meetings attended Frequency

1 Mr. Hussain Mahyoob Sultan Al Junaidy Chairman 5 100%

2 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan Member 3 60%

3 Mr. Mohamed Saif Darwish Ahmed Al Ketbi Member 5 100%

4 Mr. Khaled Mohammad Ali Al Kamda Member 4 80%

6	 Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The Roles and Responsibilities of the Nomination & Remuneration committee inter alia include:

>	 Verify the independence of the Board members by means of a Declaration of Independence form which was completed 
and signed by each independent member;

>	 Review and approve the Human Resources policies;
>	 Annually review the Board’s Self- Evaluation forms and Board Members’ Self-Assessments forms;
>	 Promote gender diversity at Board, Executive management and staff level and annually review the Emiratisation 

activities being undertaken by the Company 
>	 Review annually the ongoing suitability of the Company’s policy for remuneration and benefits for the Company’s 

Board of Directors and Executive Management

To provide independence from management, all members of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee are Non-Execu-
tive and the Chairman of the Board is not a member.  Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan serves as the Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee convened twice in 2018 on 12 March and 17 December and the following 
table summarizes the members and their attendance:

S.No. Name Title Meetings attended Frequency

1 Mr. Ali Fardan Ali Al Fardan Chairman 1 50%

2 Mr. Hussain Mahyoob Sultan Al Junaidy Member 2 100%

3 Mr. Mohamed Saif Darwish Ahmed Al Ketbi Member 2 100%

4 Mr. Abdulrahman Ghanem A. Al Mutaiwee Member 2 100%
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7	 Committee for Management & Supervision of Insiders Trading

The Insider Trading Supervision Committee (“ITSC”) performs the following functions as detailed in its Charter: 
>	 Management, follow-up and supervision of insiders’ trading and their shareholding in DI shares; 
>	 Maintaining a special and comprehensive register for all insiders, including persons who could be considered as 

insiders on a temporary basis and who are entitled to or have access to inside information of the Company prior 
to publication. The record also includes details of initial declaration and subsequent updates on the trades by 
insiders and their shareholding; and 

>	 Submitting statements and reports to the Market.

The ITSC convened twice in 2018 on 11 March and 16 December and the following table summarizes the members and 
their attendance:

S.No. Name Title Meetings attended Frequency

1 Mr. Abdulaziz Bin Yagub AlSerkal Chairman 2 100%

2 Mr. Mushtaq Masood Member 2 100%

3 Mr. Kurian Chacko Member 2 100%

8	 Other committees approved by the Board of Directors

The Board has not considered it necessary to establish any other committees.

9	 Internal Controls System

a.	 Board of Directors acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for ensuring effectiveness of the internal control 
system. The Board of Directors receives reports quarterly from the Audit Committee on developments regarding the 
Group Internal Audit, Risk Management and Compliance functions. Based upon these reports, and other feedback, 
the Audit Committee and Board direct the Executive Management to take appropriate action to result in effective 
and efficient operations, accurate financial reporting and compliance with laws and regulations.

b.	 The Chief Internal Controls Officer is Mr. Saderuddin Panakkat, a Chartered Accountant and a MBA holder, appoint-
ed on 3 October 2005. He reports to the Audit Committee.

c.	 The Compliance Officer is Mr. Mohamed El Sahwi, a Certified Management Accountant, who was appointed as the 
Compliance Officer on 6 September 2015.

d.	 The Board is pleased to confirm to its stakeholders that in line with Article 50 of Resolution No. 7 R.M., the Board 
has conducted its annual review of the efficiency of the Internal Control System and concluded that no material 
internal control breaches were recorded in 2018 requiring disclosure in a Report or to the Market.

10	 Violations

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the Executive Management, no material violations were committed 
during 2018 and DI is compliant with Resolution No. 7 R.M. on Corporate Discipline and Governance Standards.

11	 Contribution towards Society and Environment  

In the UAE, 2018 was declared the Year of Zayed to mark 100 years since the birth of the late Sheikh Zayed bin Sultan Al 
Nahyan. Dubai Investments PJSC (“DI”) organized 30 different activities in four strategic categories as part of its Year 
of Zayed campaign to celebrate the founding father’s life, legacy and values. In addition, DI undertook and supported 
a number of other important community development activities and initiatives. In total for the year, DI was involved in 
50 different activities and events, making a total contribution of AED 1.57 million. 
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(a) Year of Zayed

The DI calendar of activities and activations in the Year of Zayed fell under four strategic categories: 

Giving and 
Humanitarianism

Environment and 
Sustainability Human Development Culture and Knowledge

Initiatives to encourage 
volunteer work, empower-
ment and a more inclusive 

society:

Initiatives as part of DI’s 
pledge to support the 

UAE Vision 2021 towards 
a more sustainable future:

Supporting the UAE’s 
efforts in building knowl-
edge economies through 
innovation and creativity:

Activities consistent 
with the values of Sheikh 

Zayed:

> Staff members volunteered 
and spent time with People 
of Determination at Senses 
Residential and Day Care for 
Special Needs. 

> Students from Awladouna 
Center for People with 
Disabilities were invited to 
DI House, to display their 
handmade products.

>  Suppor t for the Sight 
ME exhibition for visual 
disability technologies in 
Sharjah.

> Employees volunteered 
their time and took part 
in the Walk for Education, 
organized by Dubai Cares.

>  Film screenings were 
organized for 1,700 labourers 
in DIP camps.

> Provided financial support 
for a sports competition for 
people of determination.

> Planted approximately 
3,000 trees, 20,000 shrubs 
and 20,000 square meters of 
lawn grass in DIP and across 
Dubai, including some in 
collaboration with Dubai 
Municipality. 

> Contributed 800 coloured 
solar panels towards the 
f i rst-of- i ts-k ind Dubai 
M u n i c i p a l i t y  A l  Tw a r 
kindergar ten project. 

> Marked World Environment 
Day and Global Earth Hour 
at DI House with events 
and activities, helping to 
raise awareness in these 
global initiatives among 
employees, subsidiaries 
and the wider community.

> Scholarships, grants and 
internships were arranged 
through MODUL University 
Dubai.

> Participated in events 
which empowered and 
enabled university students 
and school students in 
innovation, 3D, solar and 
ICT technology.

> Sponsored a hobbies club 
that empowered children 
w i t h  s k i l l s  d u r i n g  t h e 
summer months.

>  P r o v i d e d  f i n a n c i a l 
supported for the Emirates 
Kids’ Marathon at Creek 
Par k,  an event to raise 
a w a r e n e s s  a b o u t  t h e 
benefits of healthy lifestyle 
among the children.

> Organised a heritage tour 
for students of MODUL 
U n i v e r s i t y  D u b a i  a n d 
Universit y of Balamand 
Dubai,  in collaboration 
with the Sheikh Mohammed 
C e n t r e  f o r  C u l t u r a l 
Understanding.

> Arranged Etihad Museum 
trip for employees to learn 
about UAE histor y and 
culture.

> Staged activities for staff, 
subsidiaries and visitors to 
mark Flag Day and National 
Day at Dubai Investments 
House. 

>  Sponsored ar t pieces 
at  the Scavenger Hunt 
initiative launched by Dubai 
Cares and Dubai Culture.

(b) Other activities

Ramadan initiatives and campaigns

Provided financial support for:
>	 Meal distribution by Beit Al Khair Society. 
>	 Initiatives by Emirates Red Crescent. 
>	 Umrah trip organized by Khorfakkan Club.
>	 Sports event and Iftar by Al Ain Club for the Disabled. 
>	 Smile on the Face, a campaign with an outreach programme for labourers and blue collar workers.
>	 Distributed Eid gifts to orphaned children through Fujairah Charity Association.
>	 Supported Van Al Khair initiative by Emirates Foundation with clothes, bags and groceries.
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Community and social programmes

>	 Celebrated International Women’s Day and Emirati Women’s Day with range of activities at DI House.
>	 Organized and supported a number of health awareness campaigns for staff at DI and subsidiaries, including 

health checks, consultations and a blood donation drive.
>	 Hosted the 12th DIP Corporate Sports Challenge, an event that offers 30 sporting activities for over 1,800 employ-

ees from 34 companies.
>	 Supported the 2018 Autism Awareness Ride.
>	 Facilitated treatment of children with cancer through the Children’s Cancer Centre Lebanon. 
>	 Provided literacy skills to displaced children through Helayel Reads program. 
>	 Provided financial support to various local organizations like Al Noor Training Centre, Al Shams Centre for People 

with Disabilities, Al Hanan Centre for Disabilities, Rashid Centre, Al Ihsan Charity Association, Rewaq Ousha Bint 
Hussain Cultural and Social Centre and UAE Handball Federation. 

12	 General Information 

(a) Share Price Movement

The Company’s (Maximum and Minimum) Share Price at the end of each month for the fiscal year ending on December 
31, 2018 is given in the table below:

Month Maximum price 
during the month

Minimum price 
during the month

Closing price at the 
end of the month DFM General Index Index of financial 

investment sector

January  2.55  2.38  2.41 3394.36 3726.47

February  2.46  2.18  2.21 3244.12 3460.91

March  2.25  2.02  2.09 3108.53 3277.63

April  2.14  1.89  1.90 3065.96 3004.89

May  2.07  1.78  2.06 2964.13 3259.64

June  2.20  1.86  1.90 2821.00 2991.93

July  2.05  1.89  2.02 2955.95 3144.75

August  2.06  1.94  1.99 2840.16 3090.87

September  1.99  1.87  1.87 2834.95 2925.6

October  1.90  1.54  1.62 2784.6 2602.62

November  1.65  1.32  1.35 2668.66 2247.72

December  1.38  1.16  1.26 2529.75 2093.73
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(b) Comparative Share Price Performance  

The graph depicted below indicates the performance of the Company Closing Share Price for 2018 against the DFM 
General Index and the Index of Financial Investment Sector for 2018.
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(c)	 Statement of Shareholders’ Nationality

As on December 31, 2018, 4,252,019,585 shares were held by 16,751 shareholders. The shareholder mix is depicted in 
the table below:

Classification % of Ownership

Individuals Companies Governments & 
Institutions

Banks Total %

Local 50.43% 17.25% 18.29% 0.44% 86.40%

GCC 1.25% 1.38% 0.06% 0.01% 2.70%

Arab 2.49% 0.08% 0.00% 0.02% 2.58%

Foreign 1.17% 7.00% 0.03% 0.12% 8.32%

Total 55.34% 25.71% 18.38% 0.59% 100%

(d) Top  Shareholders

Shareholders who own 5% or more as on 31 December 2018 are as follows:
	

S.No. Name Number of owned 
shares

Percentage of the owned shares 
from the Company’s capital

1 Investment Corporation of Dubai 490,615,372      11.54%

2 Al Fardan Real Estate 260,000,000 6.11%

3 Mr. Mohamed Saif Darwish Ahmed Al Ketbi 216,605,337       5.09%
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(e)	 Shareholding distribution

The distribution of shareholders by size of shareholding as on 31 December 2018, is as follows:

Sr.
No.

Ownership of shares
(number of shares)

Number of shareholders Number of owned 
shares

Percentage of the shares 
from the Company’s capital

1 Less Than 50,000 12,309 219,964,161 5.2463 %

2 Between 50,000 and 500,000 3,791 519,433,779 12.2168 %

3 Between 500,000 and 5,000,000 544 798,834,922 18.7874 %

4 Greater than 5,000,000 107 2,713,786,723 63.8234 %

Total 16,751 4,252,019,585 100%

(f)	Investor Relations

For the purposes of Article 35 of Resolution No. 7 R.M., the officer in charge of investors’ relations and shareholder 
communications for the Company is Mr. Maher Rabah, Investor Relations – Senior Officer

Contact details:        
Tel +9714 8122400  
Fax +9714 8122480    
P.O. Box: 28171 Dubai | UAE                     
Email: IR@dubaiinvestments.com

Further information in relation to Investor Relations is available in the Investor Relations section of the Company’s 
website which can be accessed at http://www.dubaiinvestments.com/en/investor-relations-homepage#. 

(g) Special Resolutions

There were no special resolutions at the 22nd Annual General Meeting, which was held on 18th April 2018.

(h) Board Secretary

Mr. Kurian Chacko is Group Company Secretary since his appointment on 22nd March 2009.
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(h)	 Significant Events

Acquisitions and Investments >	 Acquisition of Union Properties’ 50% stake in Emicool, for 100% ownership 
of the district cooling services provider.

> Divested its 50% stake in Drive Dubai.
> Announced plans to lead a consortium of investors for the launch of Arkan 

Bank, an Islamic financial institution with initial paid-up capital of US$ 100m.
> Expanded its healthcare portfolio with a 20% stake in an equity partnership 

for AED 465 million Clemenceau Medical Centre 
> Announced a US$ 20 million investment in Africa Crest Education Holding, 

an investment company promoting quality education across the continent

Growth and Expansion > Emicool awarded a district cooling plant contract serving the Expo Village, 
Dubai South Mall and the new Expo Conference and Exhibition Centre.

> The University of Balamand campus opened at Dubai Investments Park.
> Work progressed ahead of schedule on the AED 460 million Fujairah 

Business Centre, developed by Al Taif Investment. 
> King’s College Hospital London in UAE opened a Marina Medical Centre 

(Dubai Investments owns a 26.75% stake in KCH Healthcare LLC).
> Al Mal MENA Equity Fund posted strong returns of 19% after fees for 2018.
> Dubai Investments Park signed AED 6.8 million, three-year contract with 

IMDAAD for external cleaning, waste collection and disposal services.
> Mirdif Hills project passed 50% milestone, sales of Nasayem Avenue 

launched. 
> MODUL University hosted its first graduation ceremony

Recognition and Awards > Khalid Bin Kalban MD & CEO received the ABLF Business Excellence Award 
for his extensive experience across multiple sectors. 

> Khalid Bin Kalban won a Leadership Award conferred by Organization for 
promotion of Leadership and Entrepreneurship. 

> Dubai Investments Real Estate Company was conferred Recognition Award 
at the Global Infrastructure Congress.

> Techsource was awarded Best Infrastructure Integrator of the Year from 
SNB Middle East for DIP CCTV project.

> Emirates Float Glass received recognition for 1 million hours injury free.

Appointments > Abdulaziz Bin Yagub Al Serkal appointed as CEO - Building Materials
Platform.

> Khaled Abdel Majeed appointed as Lead Portfolio Manager for Al Mal Mena 
equities funds and solutions.

(j) Emiratisation

The percentage of Emiratisation as on December 31, 2018 is 14% however, 45% of Executive Management of DI is consti-
tuted by UAE Nationals.
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(k)	Innovation Projects and Initiatives 

Innovation has always been at the heart of Dubai Investments, across the processes, services and products of 
its subsidiaries, and also in its commitment to programs and activities that enable our future generations. In 
2018, we demonstrated innovation in our products, in our support to education and in other ways, as follows. 

Innovative Products Innovation in Education Others

> Dubai Municipality in the Al Twar district 
used coloured solar panels and a sustainable 
building façade designed and executed by 
Emirates Insolaire, the solar technology pioneer 
and Joint Venture of Dubai Investments, for a 
new kindergarten facility. This was one of three 
sustainable and innovative projects undertaken 
by Emirates Insolaire with Dubai Municipality in 
2018, alongside Mohammed bin Rashid Library 
and a Multipurpose Garhoud Parking site.

> Emirates Glass introduced the anti-reflective 
ARAMAX coating, an innovative product that 
reduces reflectivity, increases the transmis-
sion of visible light and allowing better views. 
Other innovative products, methods and deco-
rative elements which offer superior optical and 
thermal performance were also introduced, and 
the subsidiary also developed a unique system 
of suspended heavy woven metal mesh within 
insulating glass units, which offered users 
privacy and a sense of solidity.

> Saudi American Glass introduced digital 
printing technology to help diversify its product 
portfolio through high quality graphics used 
in external façade work and decorative glass 
partitions. 

> IT subsidiary Techsource also improved effi-
ciency with the design and introduction of a 
self-service payment system for Emicool and 
Dubai Investments Park, and the implementa-
tion of an interactive and intuitive dashboard and 
call centre application which helped to increase 
employee efficiency at Emicool.

> Dubai Investments was once 
again committed to enabling future 
generations in innovation through 
education. Subsidiary University 
o f  B a l a m a n d  D u b a i  o p e n e d 
its doors to students from the 
region in Dubai Investments Park, 
offering courses that encourage 
and teach entrepreneurial thinking 
a n d  i n n o v a t i o n  i n  B u s i n e s s 
Management, as well as degrees 
in engineering and science. 

> MODUL University Dubai, another 
education subsidiary, also offers 
courses in entrepreneurship and 
innovation. 

> DI was once again involved in 
a number of programmes and 
initiatives, in conjunction with the 
UAE Ministry of State for Higher 
Education and others,  which 
fostered entrepreneurial spirit and 
provided learning opportunities 
for UAE youth in the fields of solar 
power, 3D print technology and ICT.

> During 2018, we supported 
innovation through sponsorship 
of the Dubai Investment Week, 
and under the theme ‘Investing 
in Future Transformation’. Its 
focus was on areas such as 
Artificial Intelligence and digital 
transformation.

>  Dubai Investments also 
showcased credentials in 
innovation and sustainability 
across its portfolio at Innovation 
Arabia and the Future Cities 
Show, events that showcased 
solutions for a smar t and 
sustainable future.

Signed:                                                                                                           		
      

	
         Sohail Faris Ghanim Ateish Al Mazrui
         Chairman 
         Dated:   March 12, 2019 	

		    						                 Seal of Company






